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          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I am Council

          3  Member Steve DiBrienza, I am the Chair of this

          4  Committee on General Welfare. Some of you know that

          5  because some of you, many of you follow the work of

          6  this Committee and the many hearings that we have

          7  had over the years on many different issues

          8  affecting countless thousands and thousands of New

          9  Yorkers, today is no different. We have the General

         10  Welfare Committee and we have members of the

         11  Committee who were with us, let me introduce them

         12  first. Council Member Bill Perkins. Council Member,

         13  a new member of the Committee, Council Member

         14  Margarita Lopez, that will be the last time, Council

         15  Member, that I say new member, we figure about three

         16  times and that's about it. Council Member Eldridge.

         17  Council Member Quinn, although not a member of the

         18  Committee, an active participant in the work of this

         19  Committee. Council Member Reverend Lloyd Henry, and

         20  Council Member Mike Abel. Before we are done, we

         21  hope to be joined by other members of the Committee,

         22  Council Members Linares, Watkins and Rodriguez. This

         23  time of year, as we prepare for budget there are

         24  often countless meetings of the Council that cause

         25  some people to have to be at part, leave for part,
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          2  return for part, that is what happens in every case,

          3  there is nothing unusual about that. The staff of

          4  the Committee keeps every member fully informed of

          5  the goings on and of the copies of the various

          6  testimonies.

          7                 The way we are going to do this

          8  hearing today on Intro. 754 is to have a set of

          9  scheduled witnesses, that is to say of people who

         10  are scheduled to testify on various aspects pro and

         11  con, legal aspects, personal aspects, et cetera.

         12                 From that, we will then move toward

         13  those who want to testify and we will listen as this

         14  Committee always does, many times for multiple

         15  hours, you know, hours and hours of hearings, listen

         16  to everyone who wants to be heard. I am a big

         17  believer, as are the members of this Committee,

         18  individually and collectively, that everyone

         19  deserves the right to be heard in our City, that's

         20  not always how we always feel, but I can assure you

         21  that as part of the General Welfare Committee and

         22  this Council, since we are a part of the Council, we

         23  make it our business to listen.

         24                 Intro. 754, the primary sponsors are

         25  Council Members Perkins, Lopez, Quinn, Eldridge,
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          2  Reed, Berman, DiBrienza, Cruz, Eisland, Espada --

          3  actually, the total number of the sponsors, Perkins,

          4  Lopez, Quinn, Eldridge, Reed, Berman, DiBrienza,

          5  Cruz, Eisland, Espada, Freed, Linares, Miller,

          6  Moskowitz, the Public Advocate, Mr. Green,

          7  Rodriguez, Boyland, Malave-Dilan, Fisher, Henry and

          8  Koslowitz, also co-sponsoring Council Members

          9  Leffler, McCaffrey, Michels, Pinkett, Sabini,

         10  Watkins and White, so you can see a broad array of

         11  Council Members are primary or co-sponsors of Intro.

         12  754.

         13                 This bill would amend the

         14  Administrative Code of the City of New York in

         15  relation to gender-based discrimination adding a new

         16  subdivision 23 to Section 8102 -- of Section 8102,

         17  to Chapter 1 of Title 10. For the record we have to

         18  read that all out.

         19                 But what it really simply means is

         20  that in the Human Rights law we have   various

         21  protections, you cannot discriminate and there is a

         22  list of categories upon which reasons or bases of

         23  which you cannot discriminate, and this would add

         24  discrimination based on gender to the Human Rights

         25  law.
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          2                 Sorry, let me be more accurate on the

          3  record. It would clarify the Human Rights law so as

          4  to be specifically a reference, those of

          5  transgendered experience and that they are covered

          6  there. You will hear testimony from the agency

          7  indicating that their belief is that the coverage

          8  already exists, this would be a way to specifically

          9  clarify that portion of the question before us

         10  today.

         11                 To set the stage and then a moment to

         12  take comments from the sponsors or the first

         13  witness, which will happen in a second, it is clear

         14  that a lot of work has gone into the preparation of

         15  Intro. 754 and the organizations and individuals who

         16  are attempting to advance this with the cooperation

         17  of so many Council Members. It is also clear that

         18  there is some indication, clear indication that the

         19  Human Rights Commission believes that transgendered

         20  individuals are covered under the current law, the

         21  Administration, the Corporation Counsel opinions

         22  have been issued, and the court cases seem to

         23  indicate that City's Human Rights Laws are generally

         24  construed by the courts to give the widest possible

         25  coverage.
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          2                 So, that's part of what we will hear

          3  discussed today. For anyone who is not familiar with

          4  our process, every bill that comes before this

          5  Council as a whole, this Committee in particular, to

          6  the extent possible, and begins to move on a track

          7  towards passage, is given a first hearing where the

          8  fullest commentary witness commentaries can be had,

          9  and then it moves through the process from there.

         10  And that's, again, no different. We want to make

         11  sure everyone knows that we are committed to

         12  starting this process, A, and advancing the agenda

         13  at 754.

         14                 Okay, any Council members?

         15                 Seeing none, let's call our first two

         16  witnesses. We are going to do this in sort of almost

         17  a panel-like way for some, and others will appear on

         18  their own.

         19                 The first two witnesses are Paisley

         20  Currah and Dennis DeLeon.

         21                 I should point out that all witnesses

         22  who appear before the Committee are first addressed

         23  by Council so as to be sworn, unless your own

         24  personal beliefs prevent that, you can affirm your

         25  testimony. That is so as to cast no aspersion on any

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            10

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  particular witness, we do it to every witness to

          3  treat people equally and fairly.

          4                 So, I will direct your attention to

          5  the Counsel of the Committee, please.

          6                 MR. NEWMAN: Please raise your right

          7  hands.

          8                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

          9  the testimony you are about to give is the truth,

         10  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         11                 When the light is off, the mike is

         12  on. Press the button.

         13                 MS. CURRAH: I do.

         14                 MR. DeLEON: I do.

         15                 MR. NEWMAN: Please state your names

         16  and affiliations for the record.

         17                 MR. DeLEON: My name is Dennis DeLeon,

         18  I am the President of the Latino Commission on AIDS

         19  and former Chair of the New York City Human Rights

         20  Commission.

         21                 MS. CURRAH: My name is Paisley

         22  Currah, I am an Associate Professor of Political

         23  Science at Brooklyn College, and I am also a member

         24  of the New York Association for Gender Rights

         25  Advocacy.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          3  Okay.

          4                 Now, you each have prepared testimony

          5  so you can decide. I think, Paisley, we are going to

          6  have to go first, and then Mr. DeLeon.

          7                 MS. CURRAH: Thank you. Mr.

          8  Chairperson and members of the General Welfare

          9  Committee, thank you for giving me the opportunity

         10  to testify today on Initiative 754.

         11                 For the past three years I have been

         12  involved in a research project that examines

         13  municipal and State non-discrimination laws that

         14  specifically include gender variant, and transgender

         15  people. Taken together, the terms transgender and

         16  gender variant describe anyone who in some way does

         17  not conform to gender stereotypes. This may include

         18  transexual men and women, but also includes

         19  masculine-appearing women and feminine-appearing

         20  men. And I think other people today are going to

         21  talk a little bit more about terminology, so I

         22  won't.

         23                 As you know, Initiative 754 would add

         24  a definition of gender to the New York City Human

         25  Rights Law. Adding this language will make it clear
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          2  that all gender-based discrimination constitutes a

          3  violation of that law.

          4                 In New York City, as elsewhere,

          5  transgendered people face severe discrimination in

          6  actually every aspect of life, in employment,

          7  housing, public accommodations, credit, marriage,

          8  parenting and law enforcement, among others.

          9                 This discrimination is rooted in the

         10  same stereotypes that are behind the unequal

         11  treatment of women, lesbian, gay and bisexual people

         12  and people with disabilities; that is, stereotypes

         13  about how men and women are supposed to behave, and

         14  how male and female bodies are supposed to appear.

         15                 Because most courts have found that

         16  existing sex and gender non-discrimination laws do

         17  not cover people who are gender variant, legislators

         18  across the country have taken on the task of

         19  ensuring that transgendered people and

         20  gender-variant people are protected from

         21  discrimination by passing bills very similar to

         22  Initiative 754.

         23                 This bill then isn't really a new

         24  concept but representative of a growing trend in the

         25  law as the reality of gender-based discrimination is
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          2  brought to light, and as people at risk of losing

          3  jobs and housing ask for help.

          4                 In 1975, Minneapolis passed the first

          5  local ordinance prohibiting discrimination against

          6  transgendered people, in the last 25 years, at least

          7  32 other localities around the country have enacted

          8  similar ordinances.

          9                 In 1993, Minnesota passed the first

         10  and only Statewide anti-discrimination law, and so

         11  far with no ill affects on employers or on

         12  landlords.

         13                 So, there are 33 cities in total --

         14  sorry, 32 cities and counties in total in one state.

         15  The cities are as culturally diverse as Ann Arbor,

         16  Louisville, Tuscon, as small as York, Pennsylvania,

         17  with a population of 19,000, and as large as San

         18  Francisco, Pittsburgh and Atlanta.

         19                 So, all total, about 3.8 percent of

         20  the US population are now covered by some form of

         21  transgender inclusive nondiscrimination law.

         22                 If Initiative 754 is passed, New York

         23  will become the 34th jurisdiction in the country to

         24  ensure that no one is discriminated against because

         25  they do not conform to traditional stereotypes about
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          2  what it means to be a man or a woman.

          3                 I strongly urge you to support this

          4  bill, and I will be happy to supply you with any

          5  additional material on this topic, or answer any of

          6  your questions.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you. I

          9  appreciate the succinct testimony.

         10                 Mr. DeLeon.

         11                 MR. DeLEON: I am going to try and be

         12  brief.

         13                 Please accept my gratitude, Mr.

         14  Chairman, members of the General Welfare Committee

         15  and other Council Members, for the opportunity to

         16  address this important issue.

         17                 My name is Dennis DeLeon, I am the

         18  President of the Latino Commission on AIDS. From

         19  1982 to 1988 I served as Senior Assistant

         20  Corporation Counsel in the New York City Law

         21  Department, assisting and advising agencies on equal

         22  employment and discrimination law, working with the

         23  New York City Human Rights Commission and several

         24  other responsibilities.

         25                 I served as Chair and Commissioner of
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          2  the New York City Commission on Human Rights from

          3  1990 to 1994. During my tenure as Chair of the

          4  Commission, I had the opportunity to lead an agency

          5  of incredibly dedicated workers that enforce the New

          6  York City Human Rights Law, responded to bias

          7  incidents, studied and issued reports on various

          8  aspects of human rights law enforcement, educated

          9  groups of employers, landlords, and public

         10  accommodations operators on how the law applies to

         11  them and many more functions.

         12                 This tradition of equality,

         13  compassion and commitment is still present to this

         14  day under the leadership of Commissioner Marta

         15  Varela.

         16                 I am going to just skip to the core

         17  part of the testimony. We have to keep in mind why

         18  the language of human rights law is so important.

         19  There is a large and professional equal employment

         20  infrastructure in many private companies whose

         21  responsibilities include making sure their employers

         22  do not run afoul of the human rights laws.

         23                 These professionals often times

         24  depend on the words of the City statute for their

         25  guidance, as do the lawyers that advise them.
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          2                 The absence of specific reference to

          3  gender identity or expression in the statute tells

          4  these individuals that there is no bar in refusing

          5  to hire a transgendered person because it offended

          6  the culture of the company.

          7                 While it might have been useful for

          8  the Commission, when I was chair, to have

          9  implemented an educational campaign, the level of

         10  confusion and uncertainty regarding the ambiguous

         11  language of the statute continues -- would continue

         12  regardless of education efforts.

         13                 As a result of my observations and

         14  experiences, I concluded that in addition to the

         15  education of employers, business operators and

         16  landlords, there had to be a specific reference in

         17  the Statute that would settle the question of

         18  courage beyond doubt. Most employers really want to

         19  do the right thing and not discriminate, and the

         20  problem was and is that they do not know what is

         21  covered by the law.

         22                 Beyond the issue of lack of clarity

         23  among the employers, there was also the problem of

         24  lack of notice to the community of persons with

         25  diverse gender expressions. Because the law does not
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          2  clearly state that it covers all persons with

          3  diverse gender identities, many persons do not

          4  realize that they have rights against employment,

          5  housing and public accommodations discrimination.

          6                 People that advise transgendered

          7  individuals often do not realize that there may be a

          8  remedy.

          9                 Keep in mind that some of the

         10  attorneys practicing discrimination law have little

         11  experience in how the statute might be interpreted

         12  by those in the know at the Human Rights Commission

         13  or the City Law Department. The fact that the law

         14  may cover persons of diverse gender identities

         15  should not be a secret shared strictly among regular

         16  practitioners before the Commission. The specific

         17  inclusion of gender identity and expression will

         18  have the effect of increasing the likelihood that

         19  possibly meritorious complaints will be filed.

         20                 Now, I reviewed the memorandum issued

         21  by the Law Department of the City of New York. I

         22  have tremendous respect for the work of Jeffrey

         23  Friedlander and Martha Mann Alfaro. They are

         24  excellent lawyers, and the City is indebted to their

         25  dedication and excellence. Their memo concludes that
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          2  transgendered persons are already covered under the

          3  law. Because of this memorandum, many have concluded

          4  that there is no need for a change in the statute. I

          5  strongly disagree with this conclusion.

          6                 First, the Law Department asserts

          7  that transgendered persons could be considered

          8  mentally ill, and thus covered under the portion of

          9  the law protecting disabled persons with physical,

         10  medical, mental or psychological impairments. The

         11  difficulty with such an argument is that it relies

         12  on the reasoning that is harmful to the interest of

         13  persons with diverse gender identities. Most people

         14  who are transgendered do not consider themselves to

         15  have a mental or psychological impairment. They want

         16  to be seen, as we all do, as people that can work,

         17  be housed, and access services in the same way that

         18  anybody else would.

         19                 In my experience, most members of

         20  these communities do not consider themselves to be

         21  disabled and do not want to be seen that way. Any

         22  reliance on that reasoning sends the wrong signal to

         23  employers, landlords and providers of public

         24  accommodations, labeling as pathological, a

         25  community, most of whose members do not suffer from

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  mental illness.

          3                 Can you imagine what the reaction

          4  would have been of the lesbian and gay community if

          5  legislators had told advocates that there was no

          6  need for a human rights law that included sex or

          7  orientation because they were considered mentally

          8  ill and were already covered as disabled.

          9                 Don't forget that it was not long ago

         10  when psychiatric professions saw homosexuality as a

         11  mental illness.

         12                 Second, the Law Department's memo

         13  concludes that transgendered persons are already

         14  covered because the term "gender" has been read in

         15  two opinions and in a transcript to a City Council

         16  hearing to include these individuals.

         17                 With due respect to my former

         18  colleagues, I do not agree that this level of legal

         19  precedence provide the kind of notice needed by

         20  employers, landlords and business operators. Most of

         21  these persons and their lawyers do not have access

         22  to transcripts of the City Council hearings, have

         23  never read the one administrative and the other

         24  judicial opinion on this issue and will have no

         25  access to the Law Department memo of March 1st,
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          2  2001.

          3                 No one should have to call up the

          4  Human Rights Commission Law Enforcement Bureau to

          5  learn whether you are a person covered by City law,

          6  or as an employer, whether a person with distinct or

          7  gender expression is, in fact, protected against

          8  discrimination.

          9                 It should be transparent in the words

         10  of the statute that discrimination based on gender,

         11  identity and expression is illegal. That is what

         12  people rely on, the words of the statute.

         13                 The Law Department memo itself

         14  illustrates the difficulty of relying on gender with

         15  no explicit definition. The memo uses the term

         16  transgender interchangeably with transexual, though

         17  most transgendered people are not in fact transexual

         18  and do not identify as such.

         19                 There is a diversity of communities,

         20  of persons with diverse gender identities and

         21  expression that are not covered under the current

         22  case law. It is this very ambiguity the law is

         23  intended to address.

         24                 The proposed amendment to the City

         25  Human Rights Law would tell this vast and diverse
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          2  community that any form of discrimination based on

          3  gender, identity or expression is illegal.

          4                 In conclusion, let us not ignore one

          5  of the basic purposes of the City Human Rights Law,

          6  to give notice to those who may have been the object

          7  of discrimination and to the potential

          8  discriminators of what is legal and illegal. And

          9  keep in mind, very few, most of these cases of

         10  discrimination, and whatever the category might be,

         11  are really addressed in that huge infrastructure of

         12  equal employment personnel in companies. These

         13  advisors to companies tell them what is legal and

         14  illegal, and they generally try and follow that law.

         15  Very few cases actually come to the Human Rights

         16  Commission. It is usually handled within a company.

         17                 There is a lot of good intentioned

         18  people out there who need a clear statute that

         19  settles the question, and, please, let us not rely

         20  on a rationale that insists that people with diverse

         21  gender identities have to declare themselves

         22  mentally ill in order to exercise their basic civil

         23  rights.

         24                 But we cannot stop with a change in

         25  the statute no matter how clear. There must be an
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          2  extensive public education campaign that educates

          3  the community of landlords, employers and business

          4  operators, that there will be a price to pay for

          5  discrimination based on gender identity and

          6  appearance.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          9                 Any questions?

         10                 Council Member Lopez.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just have two

         12  questions, some clarification that I need.

         13                 In the cases of the communities that

         14  modify the law, change the law, make any changes to

         15  it, do you know the reason why those changes were

         16  implemented?

         17                 MS. CURRAH: Yes. In some cases we

         18  have been able to look at, from the historical

         19  record, testimony and transcripts, and basically

         20  because, as Mr. DeLeon pointed out, people were not

         21  included in the law and did not recognize themselves

         22  as included in the law.

         23                 In Seattle, for example, they just

         24  revised their law last summer and they did a report

         25  and they recognized that people did not know that it

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            23

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  possibly could be included under the word gender if

          3  they had a hot-shot litigator who would take their

          4  case on a contingency fee.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: How different

          6  was the law in Seattle to the law in New York City?

          7                 MS. CURRAH: The law in Seattle is

          8  very similar now. They actually started off in 1986

          9  with the law that used the word "transvestites and

         10  transexual," and they found actually over time that

         11  those terms were too historically specific to speak

         12  to a broad range of gender identities and

         13  expressions, so they actually are using, they still

         14  are using those words and they are adding, though,

         15  the language we have.

         16                 The language we are using is pretty

         17  much what the majority of places use. They want to

         18  be broad terms that don't, you know, that are not

         19  historically specific but that anyone could fit

         20  under.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The difference

         22  right now between our law and all of these

         23  localities is one word?

         24                 MS. CURRAH: Well, we are actually

         25  adding a whole definition to gender, and the
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          2  definition we use for gender is similar to the ones

          3  in a lot of the other laws.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

          5                 And the second question: When you,

          6  Mr. DeLeon, said that the transgender community

          7  don't want to be identified as qualifying for the

          8  Human Right Laws on the mental illness, it's not

          9  because prejudice against the mentally ill

         10  community, correct?

         11                 MR. DeLEON: Right. My only point was

         12  that, one of the two rationales used by the Law

         13  Department was that the transgender community could

         14  be considered mentally ill, and, therefore, disabled

         15  and therefore covered by the existing law.

         16                 The only point I was trying to make

         17  was that relying upon a definition of mental illness

         18  to bring these individuals into coverage is not only

         19  offensive to them, because they don't see themselves

         20  and are not mentally ill.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But it is not

         22  based on prejudicism of mentally ill people? Because

         23  mental illness is nothing to be ashamed of, correct?

         24                 MR. DeLEON: Mental illness is nothing

         25  to be ashamed of. It's just that somebody should not
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          2  be considered mentally ill --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And being

          4  disabled is nothing to be ashamed of either.

          5                 MR. DeLEON: People should be proud of

          6  the disabled community, et cetera. But to rely upon

          7  that to assert -- like, for example, gay rights were

          8  considered for awhile as doable, because people were

          9  mentally ill when they were being gay, and they

         10  created a stigma on that community, and the stigma

         11  we fight in every instance, but we don't need to

         12  rely upon that definition when in fact this is not a

         13  mentally ill community, this is a community of

         14  people who are asserting their rights.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay. And I

         16  want to thank you for coming here today.

         17                 My last point to you is, did you deal

         18  with any case of people who were transgender

         19  experience during your tenure in your position as a

         20  Commissioner, and got to resolve any issue for any

         21  person who was discriminated that came to your

         22  office?

         23                 MR. DeLEON: Yes. We had individuals

         24  that would occasionally come forward. They were kind

         25  of guessing that the law may apply to them. And we
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          2  found that the staff of the Commission didn't often

          3  know what to do, so they had to be trained, and we

          4  trained some staff of the Commission to what was

          5  covered, and that transgendered people were covered.

          6  But the categories varied. Some investigators

          7  included transgender as disabled, some included

          8  transgender as sexual orientation, some included

          9  transgender as a gender issue. The rationale varied,

         10  it was really a hit or a miss in terms of providing

         11  the basis for the clients.

         12                 But the main point is not that the

         13  law can be read to cover this by some reasoning, the

         14  main point is the point of notice that most human

         15  rights law enforcement does not happen at the Human

         16  Rights Commission. Most human rights law enforcement

         17  happens in that huge infrastructure of equal

         18  employment personnel in company after company, and

         19  they are the ones that need the notice and the

         20  people affected by the law need the notice.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you, sir.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         23  Thank you, both.

         24                 Oh, I am sorry. Wait, folks. Council

         25  Member Perkins had a question. I apologize, I didn't
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          2  notice.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you,

          4  Mr. Chairman, and to the two panelists.

          5                 Mr. DeLeon, in those cases where your

          6  staff did more or less record a complaint in one

          7  category or another, what would be the results of

          8  such a complaint? If someone, for instance, said

          9  they were discriminated against and it was checked

         10  down as mental illness or some other kind of

         11  category amongst those that you have available, do

         12  you recall how those cases were resolved?

         13                 MR. DeLEON: They were treated like

         14  any other case. I mean, once you came under the

         15  definition of the law as interpreted by the

         16  investigator and advised by the lawyers on the team,

         17  then they were treated like any other case in terms

         18  of having their facts gathered and the

         19  discrimination heard.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, if

         21  someone was at that time -- did not want to be

         22  categorized inappropriately, because the right

         23  category was not there, or the right language was

         24  not there, what would happen with such a case?

         25                 MR. DeLEON: It depends. If an
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          2  investigator or an attorney handling the case was

          3  trying to put forward the argument of disability,

          4  that person might just disagree that I am not

          5  disabled, I don't want to have my case argued under

          6  disability.

          7                 And some instances, some attorneys

          8  use the term gender, and some other attorneys,

          9  investigators, use the term sexual orientation. It

         10  was really hit or miss in terms of how this person

         11  got classified and there was no notice to the

         12  employer involved, and there was no notice to the

         13  person who had been discriminated against --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, if

         15  someone identified it as a gender bias, would that

         16  case be pursued on that basis do you know?

         17                 MR. DeLEON: Yes. I think if someone

         18  came in and intuited that the law may reach them, it

         19  would probably be covered under gender bias.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I see.

         21                 MR. DeLEON: But it would be just hit

         22  or miss that they happen to figure that out.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Right. Very

         24  good. Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 Our next panel of witnesses will

          3  include the following folks, let me read this right,

          4  Charles King, Housing Works; Matt Foreman, Empire

          5  State Private Agenda; Pauline Park, NYAGRA; Rosalyne

          6  Blumenstein, Gender Identity Project, I wanted to

          7  get that right. And then we will have the

          8  Commissioner.

          9                 The four of you can join. They will

         10  get you some more chairs. And we have been joined by

         11  Council Member and co-sponsor of the legislation,

         12  Council Member Kathryn Freed, and we have been

         13  joined in the Chambers, visiting the Chambers where

         14  she formally served, the very outspoken and terrific

         15  member of Congress, Carolyn Maloney.

         16                 Carolyn, nice to see you.

         17                 A former Council Member. Now, I know

         18  it is more important for many that you are a

         19  Congresswoman, but I like to say former Council

         20  Member. It is always good to see Council Members

         21  moving on and to other -- never mind.

         22                 Let me direct your attention to the

         23  Counsel to the Committee.

         24                 MR. NEWMAN: Please raise your right

         25  hands.
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          2                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

          3  the testimony you are about to give is the truth,

          4  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          5                 MS. PARK: I do.

          6                 MR. KING: I do.

          7                 MR. FOREMAN: I do.

          8                 MS. BLUMENSTEIN: I do.

          9                 MR. NEWMAN: Please state your names

         10  and affiliations for the record.

         11                 MR. FOREMAN: I am Matt Foreman,

         12  Empire State Pride Agenda.

         13                 MR. KING: Charles King, Co-Executive

         14  Director, Housing Works.

         15                 MS. BLUMENSTEIN: Hi, folks. I am

         16  currently a Director at Gender Identity Project at

         17  the Center and from Housing Works, Inc., and my name

         18  is Rosalyne Blumenstein.

         19                 MS. PARK: Pauline Park, member of the

         20  New York Association of Gender Rights Advocacy.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         22                 If you have a preferred order, that's

         23  fine.

         24                 I am sorry, excuse me. And one more

         25  person is in this panel, Theresa Jefferson, from the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  Anti-Violence Project.

          3                 I didn't have a paper, so I missed

          4  it. You are here? Okay. All right, so we will have

          5  four instead of five, and we can always pick up the

          6  testimony for the record of AVP.

          7                 MS. BLUMENSTEIN: Ready, set, go?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Yes.

          9                 MS. BLUMENSTEIN: Okay. Eleven years

         10  ago a gender project was formed within the Lesbian

         11  and Gay Community Services Center.  The strategy

         12  behind the inception of this project was

         13  multifaceted:

         14                 1) To meet the needs of

         15  gender-different, transgender and transexual people

         16  in crisis.

         17                 2) To share information and create

         18  visibility.

         19                 3) To community organize a cross

         20  difference, focusing specifically around class

         21  rates, gender status and sexual orientation; and

         22                 4) To restructure an archaic system.

         23                 The desire of the project was to

         24  enhance social functioning, the desire was to

         25  legitimize and support these individuals'
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          2  identities.

          3                 At the time the focus was completely

          4  about healing, the project had no idea that 11 years

          5  later we were gathered together here in front of the

          6  City Council to testify for equal opportunities.

          7  Gender. Gender. Gender. Ask any progressive scholar

          8  their opinion about gender and identity and they

          9  will explain that on some level gender is fluid and

         10  complex, but within the City, many gender fluid

         11  complex, gender different, transgender, and

         12  transexual people are consistently denied the

         13  housing opportunities, denied access to substance

         14  abuse treatment, denied medical care, denied beds,

         15  denied the opportunity to flip hamburgers, clean

         16  classrooms, or just get a job, simply because of

         17  their gender expression, identity or presentation.

         18                 In my role as a social worker, I have

         19  experienced tremendous frustration around

         20  homelessness and violence that my clients and my

         21  community have had to put up with.

         22                 You see, the way in which this system

         23  works and the way in which the laws are written,

         24  discriminatory case managers, intake workers, line

         25  workers, landlords, supervisors and hiring staff can
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          2  make it so difficult that transgendered, gender

          3  different, and transexual people often give up and

          4  have no recourse.

          5                 Now, if I take a step back, there has

          6  been incredible growth within these 11 years,

          7  community members have taken this work to new and

          8  exciting heights, the lesbian and gay communities,

          9  have owned their connection with the bisexual and

         10  transgendered communities, leaders within the

         11  transgendered communities have expanded this work

         12  and have taken the responsibility of organizing for

         13  political change, and the most oppressed within the

         14  gender different transgender, transexual community

         15  have been finding their voice, and using that voice

         16  to take care of themselves and others. This amazing

         17  work is happening within communities that have no

         18  protections. These are amazing individuals, people

         19  within the grips of despair, homelessness, people

         20  living with HIV/AIDS are dealing with evictions,

         21  people dealing with hostility, intolerance, and

         22  violence on a daily basis; in spite of all this,

         23  these people are able to grow, excel, nurture and

         24  support one another. They community organize a cross

         25  difference, they build and reconstruct institutions,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  they understand the law and they work with community

          3  leaders in an attempt to challenge the suppression.

          4                 In addition, our communities are not

          5  only seeking to change the law to protect only

          6  ourselves, we seek to protect all citizens, not only

          7  those that are transgender or transexual

          8  identified.  To enlarge the description of gender

          9  will ultimately challenge sexism, lookism,

         10  homophobia, biphobia, transphobia and racism, as

         11  well.

         12                 Through my work as a director of a

         13  gender program, a social worker, a community

         14  organizer, a clinician and as a woman with a

         15  transexual history, I have had the opportunity to

         16  work with many other social workers, clinicians,

         17  doctors, lawyers, political figures, community

         18  organizers, around gender, transgender education and

         19  discrimination, but we can only accomplish so much

         20  without laws that make people accountable for their

         21  personal discrimination, their personal ignorance

         22  and accountable for their personal hostility to the

         23  complexities and fluidity of gender within our

         24  society.

         25                 Eleven years ago, and still today,
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          2  our social order threatens individuals that are

          3  gender different looking, transgender or transexual

          4  identified through the brilliance of NYAGRA, MGN,

          5  STAR, Housing Works, GIP, PHP, IKQNY, AVP, Harlem

          6  United, ALP, and so many community activists that

          7  have been struggling for this moment since 1969,

          8  Sylvia, as well as the tireless work of the

          9  honorable Council members, this bias will now be

         10  legally confronted.

         11                 It is time to expand the social

         12  agenda, it is time to expand civil rights and

         13  liberties for all. It is time to redistribute this

         14  power, and its resources so that all may benefit. It

         15  is now time to challenge and hopefully stop

         16  gender-based discrimination, by using the

         17  appropriate definition of gender.

         18                 I am almost finished. I am a social

         19  worker, so why do I always feel like I am fighting a

         20  God damn war? This war, this war, folks, is with

         21  this archaic system. This City is a melting pot.

         22  This state is full of vibrant hues, but to

         23  paraphrase a colleague, Lynn Walker, we are

         24  discriminated against because of the shape of our

         25  skin. We must protect everyone with a law that gives
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          2  us equal opportunity, no matter what we look like,

          3  or how we are perceived and then stereotyped. I ask

          4  you, and if necessary I beg you, to change the

          5  explanation of gender to include all.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 MR. KING: Good afternoon. My name is

          8  Charles King. I am the Co-executive Director of

          9  Housing Works, the nation's largest provider of

         10  housing and other essential services to homeless

         11  men, women and children living with AIDS and HIV,

         12  including many persons of transgender experience.

         13                 I come before you today to urge

         14  passage of Intro. 754, and I want to commend the

         15  members of the City Council who have worked so

         16  aggressively to bring this legislation to this

         17  point.

         18                 Among its many services, Housing

         19  Works operates a street outreach program funded by

         20  the United States Substance Abuse and Mental Health

         21  Services Administration, Targeted at homeless people

         22  living in lower Manhattan and various neighborhoods

         23  in Brooklyn.

         24                 Each night our outreach teams are on

         25  the streets offering food, hot showers, condoms,
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          2  clean injection kits and HIV prevention information

          3  to persons at risk.

          4                 In the course of these efforts, our

          5  teams encounter homeless people of transgender

          6  experience in numbers that vastly exceed their

          7  representation in the larger population.

          8                 Now, homelessness is a complex

          9  problem, and every homeless person has his or her

         10  own story about he or she -- about how he or she

         11  came to be on the streets, but among homeless people

         12  of transgender experience, the stories are all too

         13  similar, such that if you ask me for the principle

         14  cause of homelessness among these individuals, I

         15  could answer easily with one word, discrimination.

         16                 Over and over and over again the

         17  story is the same, harassment at school that makes

         18  meaningful education impossible, turned away from

         19  even the lowest-paying jobs and, of course, the

         20  denial of access to housing.

         21                 But that is just the beginning. Being

         22  homeless is certainly no piece of cake for anyone,

         23  but for persons of transgender experience,

         24  homelessness is a particular form of hell.

         25  Transgender women are almost never allowed to stay
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          2  in a women's shelter. Instead they are forced to go

          3  to men's shelters where they are constantly harassed

          4  and often brutilized, not just by other shelter

          5  residents, but also by staff, including in many

          6  instances the City employees.

          7                 Physical and sexual abuse is so

          8  common as to be expected, and meaningful, if any,

          9  interventions are rare.

         10                 Consequently, the overwhelming

         11  majority of homeless persons of transgender

         12  experience avoid New York City's shelter system at

         13  all costs.

         14                 Life on the streets carries its own

         15  dangers, where homeless persons of transgender

         16  experience are prey to abuse and harassment, not

         17  just by street thugs, but also by the New York City

         18  Police.

         19                 Certainly some persons of transgender

         20  experience engage in illegal activity on the

         21  streets. Sex for survival is so common as to be

         22  almost a right of passage among transgender people

         23  who are homeless, as it is for many homeless women.

         24                 But many of "New York's finest" seem

         25  to believe that a transgendered person's mere
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          2  presence on the street is clear and convincing

          3  evidence of criminal activity, such that false

          4  arrests and imprisonment are routine. Whether held

          5  only overnight or incarcerated for longer periods,

          6  persons of transgender experience are subjected to

          7  abuse, including physical and sexual violence by

          8  other incarcerated persons and Corrections' staff.

          9                 Most horrible from my perspective as

         10  an advocate on AIDS issues, is the fact that

         11  discrimination against transgendered people puts

         12  them at disproportionately high risk for HIV

         13  infection.

         14                 Discrimination in housing and

         15  employment, lack of access to shelters and other

         16  homeless services forces homeless transgendered

         17  people into sex for survival and other high-risk

         18  activities.

         19                 Low self-esteem brought on by merely

         20  universal stigmatization, and the lack of real

         21  possibilities for the for the future brings about

         22  despair that makes the risk of contracting HIV seem

         23  pale in comparison.

         24                 But the story gets even worse. We

         25  know that once someone is infected with HIV,
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          2  intensive long-term medical treatment is essential,

          3  as is housing, good nutrition, and in many cases

          4  treatment for mental health problems and chemical

          5  dependency.

          6                 Sadly, many transgendered people who

          7  are HIV positive or living with AIDS do not get

          8  access to these vital services. Why? Because, once

          9  again, discrimination is rampant. It occurs in

         10  hospitals, primary care and infectious disease

         11  clinics, pharmacies, mental health programs,

         12  substance abuse treatment programs, at New York

         13  City's Division of AIDS Services and income support,

         14  and even among supportive housing providers and

         15  other AIDS service organizations.

         16                 This discrimination ranges in form

         17  from petty harassment to outright denial of care.

         18  Even when the denial of services is not outright,

         19  the harassment and disdain are such that

         20  transgendered persons living with HIV and AIDS often

         21  avoid accessing services that they need for their

         22  own survival.

         23                 I know that Corporation Counsel and

         24  the Human Rights Commissioner argue that existing

         25  Human Rights Law can be interpreted to include its
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          2  protection -- can be interpreted to include under

          3  its protection persons of transgendered experience

          4  and other diverse gender identity and expression.

          5  The truth is that the law has not been tested

          6  sufficiently to determine whether or not these

          7  interpretations will hold up in court. And in fact,

          8  the law as it is presently written is not likely to

          9  be tested any time soon because the overwhelming

         10  majority of transgendered persons believes that the

         11  law offers them no protection whatsoever, and

         12  consequently will not seek its protection.

         13                 But even if these interpretations

         14  might eventually prevail, why wait to find out? The

         15  fact of the matter is that most New Yorkers still

         16  believe that it is completely legal to refuse

         17  accommodation to transgendered persons and to

         18  otherwise treat them differently because of their

         19  gender identity and expression.

         20                 Clearly, the New York City Police

         21  Department believes such discrimination is legal, as

         22  does the New York City Department of Homeless

         23  Services, and many of the people who work for New

         24  York City's Health and Hospitals Corporation and the

         25  Human Resources Administration.
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          2                 If these folks don't know any better,

          3  is it any wonder that private employers, landlords

          4  and other citizens believe that they can

          5  discriminate and act out their prejudice with

          6  impugnity?

          7                 Passage of Intro. 754 is absolutely

          8  vital to send an unequivocal message for all New

          9  Yorkers that it is illegal in our city to

         10  discriminate against anyone because of his or her

         11  gender identity or expression.

         12                 I urge passage of this legislation

         13  because it is morally right. I urge passage of this

         14  legislation because it is critical to bringing an

         15  end to the twin crises of homelessness and AIDS in

         16  our City.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Next.

         19                 MS. PARK: Mr. Chairman, I would like

         20  to begin by thanking you for your sponsorship and

         21  support of this legislation.

         22                 As one of the primary sponsors of the

         23  bill, you are helping to advance the attainment of

         24  full legal rights by transgendered and

         25  gender-variant people in New York City, and as Chair
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          2  of the General Welfare Committee you are well placed

          3  to move legislation forward through a vote in this

          4  Committee and to help move it to passage by the full

          5  Council.

          6                 As you know, NYAGRA initiated the

          7  process that led to the introduction of Intro. 754,

          8  the bill currently before this Committee.

          9                 In April 1999, representatives from

         10  NYAGRA and from the Gender Identity Project met with

         11  Randolph E. Wills, Deputy Commissioner and head of

         12  the Law Enforcement Bureau of the New York City

         13  Human Rights Commission.

         14                 During the course of the April 19th

         15  meeting, Mr. Wills in formed us that it was the

         16  official position of the Commission that

         17  transgendered people were not covered under current

         18  New York City Human Rights Law, with the exception

         19  of post-operative transexuals and possibly

         20  transitioning transexuals.

         21                 Mr. Wills said that the Commission's

         22  position was based on a reading of a 1995 decision

         23  in Daniel Maffei v. Kolaeton Industries (phonetic).

         24  It was based on that conversation that we sought

         25  advice from Council members on legislation to remedy
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          2  that omission.

          3                 In October 1999, NYAGRA convened a

          4  legislative work group on gender-based

          5  discrimination to study the problem of

          6  discrimination against transexual, transgendered and

          7  gender-variant people in New York City.

          8                 That work includes six Council

          9  members who are now the primary sponsors of the

         10  bill, including yourself, as well as representatives

         11  of the Empire State Pride Agenda and the Center GIP.

         12                 Based on recommendations from the

         13  legislative work group, 25, and now I believe 27

         14  Council members, along with the Public Advocate,

         15  introduced this bill on June 5th of last year, in

         16  order to amend the law to define gender to include

         17  gender identity and expression, among other

         18  characteristics.

         19                 Allow me to explain briefly the

         20  importance of the inclusion of that phrase in the

         21  text of this law, and here is where we have some

         22  helpful visual aids from the group of public allies.

         23                 The population that we are concerned

         24  with may be described as being composed of three

         25  distinct groups. Let me point to visual aids here.
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          2  The smallest circle, transexuals. Transexuals may be

          3  defined as those who seek or have obtained sex

          4  reassignment surgery.

          5                 Transgendered may be considered an

          6  umbrella term, a somewhat larger circle, that

          7  encompasses not only transexual men and women, but

          8  also non-transexual people who live a significant

          9  portion of their lives fully in a gender opposite

         10  their birth sex.

         11                 There are hundreds of different

         12  identities encompassed by the term transgender,

         13  including cross-dressers, drag queens and butches.

         14                 There is a third much larger

         15  category, and here I point to the big circle, the

         16  gender-variant, which includes both transexual and

         17  transgendered people. Non-transgendered

         18  gender-variant people, would include somewhat

         19  masculine females who nonetheless identify as women,

         20  and relatively feminine males who relative identify

         21  as men.

         22                 This bill would protect all three

         23  categories of people, transexual, transgendered and

         24  gender-variant from discrimination under City Human

         25  Rights Law.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 While there is case law under the New

          3  York City Human Rights ordinance, it is limited to

          4  only a handful of decisions involving plaintiffs who

          5  are either post-operative or transitioning

          6  transexuals, and those cases turn largely on the

          7  question of plaintiff's change of legal and

          8  anatomical sex.

          9                 Hence, the applicability of that case

         10  law to non-transexual, transgendered and

         11  gender-variant people has yet to be fully

         12  demonstrated.

         13                 I would like to refer briefly to a

         14  memorandum from Martha Mann Alfaro, which Dennis

         15  DeLeon has already referred to, dated March 1st, in

         16  which she concludes "transgendered persons should be

         17  able to claim protection under City Human Rights Law

         18  under two theories, one being gender, and the other

         19  being disability.

         20                 Implicit in the memo is a broader

         21  assertion, namely that all transgendered people will

         22  be covered under current law. In response I have

         23  drafted a memorandum on behalf of NYAGRA, and rather

         24  than read it, I would like to simply submit it and

         25  enter it into the record as part of my testimony.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 I will summarize it very briefly by

          3  saying that the argument in the March 1st

          4  Corporation Counsel memo cannot withstand close

          5  scrutiny, even if the March 1st memo made a

          6  convincing case that all transgendered

          7  gender-variant people were covered under current

          8  law, which it certainly does not succeed in doing,

          9  there would be no reason not to codify this

         10  understanding in statute.

         11                 But I would urge Council members not

         12  to be distracted by debates over legal

         13  technicalities. The larger issue before us is a

         14  pervasive discrimination faced by transgendered and

         15  gender-variant people in this City every day.

         16                 You will hear testimony today from

         17  people who have been fired from jobs, who have been

         18  denied needed health care, and who have been

         19  threatened with physical assault in stores and other

         20  venues simply because of the way they express their

         21  gender identity.

         22                 A particular egregious case involves

         23  Jalea Lamot a transgendered Latina who was brutally

         24  assaulted by police officers on the night of

         25  November 24th, 1998, After they discovered that she
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          2  was transgendered.

          3                 It was not only Jalea whom those

          4  police officers assaulted, but also her entire

          5  family, including two small children.

          6                 Legislation amending City Human

          7  Rights Law would constitute a directive to the Human

          8  Rights Commission and to other City agencies,

          9  including, importantly, the Police Department.

         10                 Legislation would send a clear signal

         11  to employers, to landlords, to providers of public

         12  accommodations, and to ordinary citizens that

         13  transgendered and gender-variant people are entitled

         14  to the full protection of the law.

         15                 And finally, and equally importantly,

         16  legislation would communicate to transgendered

         17  people themselves that they have access to legal

         18  redress through the Human Rights Commission and

         19  through private legal action.

         20                 The City Council has not only the

         21  right to enact legislation, to protect transgendered

         22  and gender-variant people from discrimination, it

         23  has the obligation to do so.

         24                 Given the absence of any convincing

         25  evidence that transgendered and gender-variant
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          2  people are covered under current law, there is a

          3  compelling argument for legislation to ensure their

          4  inclusion under New York City Human Rights Law.

          5                 We in NYAGRA therefore call upon the

          6  General Welfare Committee to vote in favor of Intro.

          7  No. 754. We call upon the Speaker to promptly

          8  schedule a vote upon the bill by the full Council,

          9  following the vote in Committee. We call upon the

         10  Council to pass this bill, and we call upon the

         11  Mayor to sign this bill into law.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 MR. FOREMAN: Hi. I am Matt Foreman.

         14  On behalf of the 25,000 members of the Empire State

         15  Pride Agenda statewide, I want to wholeheartedly

         16  support Intro. 754.

         17                 I just would like to start by

         18  thanking you, Chairman DiBrienza, for holding this

         19  hearing, for your longstanding and unwaivering

         20  support of the lesbian and gay community, and I also

         21  want to highlight the members of the City Council

         22  who have led this effort, Bill Perkins, Margarita

         23  Lopez, Christine Quinn, Ronnie Eldridge and Phil

         24  Reed. I don't think a lot of people here know how

         25  much energy has gone into this and what kind of
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          2  courage and political leadership it takes to move

          3  this bill to this point.

          4                 You are going to hear from others

          5  about why this legislation is so necessary. It

          6  should be self-evident at this point, we all know

          7  how pervasive and horrible discrimination against

          8  transgendered people is, we have all seen it, we

          9  have all felt it.

         10                 I do, however, want to make three

         11  points. First, although this day is coming very late

         12  in our movement, it is a welcomed day and it

         13  demonstrates how much progress our City has made in

         14  15 years.

         15                 In the early seventies until 1986,

         16  the lesbian and gay community came back here time

         17  and again fighting to have them, us, covered under

         18  the Human Rights Law, and many of us, including our

         19  allies in the transgendered community, sat in this

         20  very room and were exposed to the most bitter, ugly,

         21  demeaning hearings year after year, negative vote

         22  after negative vote. I am sure today you are going

         23  to hear from some bigots, but the fact that we are

         24  here today, and that we are being received so

         25  positively demonstrates that progress can be made
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          2  and it is something I think we should take some

          3  satisfaction in.

          4                 Fifteen years later, another

          5  community, part of the gay and lesbian community,

          6  but a community with its own distinct needs and

          7  aspirations is coming here to ask for their

          8  protections under the Human Rights Law, and they

          9  come to you today with 25 co-sponsors and a majority

         10  of the Council behind us. Just like the City became

         11  a much better place for including gay men, lesbians,

         12  in the human rights law, it will become a much

         13  better place when we extend those protections to

         14  people of transgender experience.

         15                 Second, I ask you not to be

         16  distracted by -- I won't be so charitable as other

         17  people, what I believe to be an incoherent

         18  memorandum from the Department of Law, which

         19  represents nothing more than I believe a shameful

         20  attempt to derail this process.

         21                 As Ms. Park said earlier, we met with

         22  the Human Rights Commission more than a year ago and

         23  were told emphatically that transgendered people

         24  were not covered under the law, and suddenly, low

         25  and behold, we have this memorandum that appears
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          2  from nowhere.

          3                 I think it is self-evident that there

          4  is nothing in the Commission's brochures, posters,

          5  case law, you name it, that encompasses, that takes

          6  into account transgendered people that this is pure

          7  deception, and I think it should be rejected

          8  outright.

          9                 Moreover, this memorandum cites legal

         10  theories under which transgendered people could

         11  possibly be covered, one, I think most people find

         12  insulting, the other is tenuous. What we are talking

         13  about here is real people, real pain, real

         14  discrimination, and that deserves explicit and real

         15  language in the law.

         16                 Finally, as important as these

         17  hearings are, and as grateful as we all are that

         18  they are happening, this is not the end of the

         19  process. The end of the process is the law.

         20                 After today's testimony, anyone who

         21  says that this law is not necessary, either has

         22  their head in the sand or is clearly insensitive and

         23  uncaring about the real human tragedy you are going

         24  to hear today.

         25                 Therefore, it is absolutely,
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          2  positively essential that the Council move on this

          3  legislation before the year is out. We get, more

          4  than anyone else, the politics of this thing, and

          5  that it could be a hot potato, and that a lot of

          6  people on Council do not want to vote for this until

          7  after the elections in the fall.

          8                 You know what? I hate to say this,

          9  but that's fine. The minute the elections are over

         10  we have to come back and pass this bill and give it

         11  to the Mayor and have him sign it. Anything less

         12  than that would be a disgrace and we are going to do

         13  everything we possibly can to prevent that.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Now, you have

         16  to tell us your name.

         17                 MS. JEFFERSON: My name is Theresa

         18  Jefferson.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I don't think

         20  you were sitting here when the Council swore

         21  everybody in so you have to address your attention

         22  to Counsel of the Committee first.

         23                 MR. NEWMAN: Do you solemnly swear or

         24  affirm that the testimony you are about to give is

         25  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the
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          2  truth?

          3                 MS. JEFFERSON: I do.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

          5                 MS. JEFFERSON: Are we all set?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Yes.

          7                 MS. JEFFERSON: My name is Theresa

          8  Jefferson, and I am the Community and Police

          9  Relations Program Coordinator at the New York City

         10  Gay and Lesbian Anti-Violence Project.

         11                 I would like to thank NYAGRA for

         12  involving us in this process, and the members of the

         13  Council for allowing us to speak today on this

         14  important issue.

         15                 First, it is important to state that

         16  AVP is in favor of amending the City's Human Rights

         17  Law to explicitly include the category, gender

         18  identity and expression.

         19                 Through our work at AVP, we are quite

         20  aware of the insufficiencies of vague language with

         21  respect to the protection of any group.

         22                 We are also quite aware of the fact

         23  that legislation such as Intro. 754, often serves a

         24  dual purpose. There is a functional purpose, and

         25  that real people and real circumstances will utilize
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          2  it, and there is a symbolic purpose.

          3                 With Intro. 754 the leadership in

          4  this City will be making an unequivocal statement

          5  that the lives, rights and experiences, of those of

          6  transgender experience have the same value as those

          7  belonging to any other group in New York City.

          8                 Today we find ourselves in a bit of a

          9  conundrum with respect to the issue of human rights

         10  protections for those of us who fall most explicitly

         11  outside of the gender norms.

         12                 On the one hand, there is a sense

         13  that transgender people may or may not already be

         14  covered under the existing Human Rights Law, and

         15  that the Human Rights Commission may or may not be

         16  pursuing cases of anti-trans discrimination. Yet, at

         17  present, there are no explicit protections for

         18  transgender people in New York.

         19                 In the absence of such explicit

         20  protections, there exists no real compulsion for

         21  people from one of the City's most marginalized

         22  communities to believe that should they engage the

         23  system, they will receive competent, respectful, and

         24  appropriate responses to their complaints.

         25  Therefore, any information that the city, including
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          2  the Human Rights Commission, has on the disposition

          3  of cases dealing with anti-transgender

          4  discrimination or harassment is lacking.

          5                 The transgender community in New York

          6  faces many obstacles to living in a way that most of

          7  us take for granted. They face discrimination in

          8  housing and education opportunities, as well as

          9  other forms of accommodation, and finding gainful

         10  employment. They often face harassment at the hands

         11  of police officers, who have come to believe that

         12  any transgender person, particularly a male to

         13  female transgender person, must be in the sex work

         14  industry. In addition, transgender people are

         15  constantly harassed and abused in the City's shelter

         16  system.

         17                 It is a dubious assumption that

         18  members of such a marginalized community would

         19  attempt to access the public, social and criminal

         20  justice systems that clearly are not designed to

         21  serve and protect them.

         22                 In the last three years at AVP, we've

         23  experienced a 126 percent increase in the number of

         24  transgender victims seeking our services. To be

         25  clear, this marked increase can be credited to AVP's
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          2  commitment to transgender inclusion, competency, and

          3  support explicit in both word and deed - and does

          4  not indicate an increase in the ever-present

          5  discrimination or violence against the transgender

          6  community. The transgender community in New York has

          7  come to recognize AVP as being a 'Safe Place.' - it

          8  is incumbent upon the City Council to make all of

          9  New York City a "Safe Place" for transgender

         10  individuals as well.

         11                 If the City of New York explicitly

         12  states that discrimination and harassment against

         13  transgender people cannot and will not be tolerated,

         14  then the community will begin to have the confidence

         15  to access our city's systems of protections.

         16                 Perhaps then, more than simply the

         17  most empowered in the transgender community will

         18  utilize and trust the programs and agencies set up

         19  to protect us all, and over time, more transgender

         20  people who suffer discrimination will call upon the

         21  Human Rights Commission for help when employers,

         22  landlords and public accommodations discrimination

         23  against them.

         24                 There will be no progress in these

         25  areas unless the City meets the needs of an
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          2  expectant transgender community and passes Intro.

          3  754. Should the Council fail to pass Intro. 754, the

          4  status quo will be maintained and the feelings of

          5  official invisibility and disenfranchisement of this

          6  marginalized community will only be underscored.

          7                 I ask you to ask yourselves how, in

          8  the Year 2001, New York City can justify a current

          9  Human Rights Ordinance that doesn't state the true

         10  intentions of the city to clearly protect its

         11  populace and thereby effectively excludes one of our

         12  City's most vulnerable populations.

         13                 I applaud your efforts to amend that

         14  Ordinance to be inclusive and protective of all the

         15  citizens of New York.

         16                 I just want to read in the testimony

         17  also, some of the highlights to some of the

         18  ambiguities in the current interpretation of the

         19  Administrative Code, and I will pass them out to the

         20  Council members also. These were collected by

         21  NYAGRA.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You should

         23  submit that to us for the record.

         24                 Thank you. That would be better. The

         25  Sergeant will take them.
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          2                 MS. JEFFERSON: Just briefly, there is

          3  a summation, there is more testimony in the file.

          4                 This is from Giovani (phonetic),

          5  March of 2001.

          6                 "I didn't report my housing or

          7  employment discrimination, I just figured it wasn't

          8  going to be any good. I didn't even know that the

          9  Commission on Human Rights took complaints when the

         10  discrimination was based on being transgender."

         11                 The next is from Ms. Cocoa

         12  (phonetic), March 2001.

         13                 "So, I asked the police officer if I

         14  went down and filed a discrimination or bias report,

         15  would I be in my rights? The officer said no. I felt

         16  violated, like I was back in the sixties somewhere

         17  before civil rights. I felt that as a paying

         18  customer, not hurting anyone, it didn't matter that

         19  I was transgender."

         20                 This is from Perry (phonetic),

         21  February 2001."I was a victim of discrimination, but

         22  transgender is not covered under New York City law,

         23  so I didn't tell the Commission the incident was

         24  because I was gender-variant because I didn't think

         25  that they would investigate. Nothing in their
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          2  literature indicates that gender-variant is

          3  considered a protective class, or that transgender

          4  is covered in any way."

          5                 The next statement is from Kihr

          6  (phonetic), March of 2000.

          7                 "No, I didn't report it to the Human

          8  Rights Commission. I didn't know that we could."

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         10                 MS. JEFFERSON: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         12                 Council Member Lopez.

         13                 Excuse me, Council Member.

         14                 We have been joined by Council Member

         15  Linares, who has been here for the entire panel. I

         16  just wanted to indicate that we have been joined

         17  first at a press conference, and now in the Chambers

         18  again where he formerly served, City Council Member,

         19  now State Senator, Tom Duane.

         20                 We are going to try to figure out how

         21  to schedule this, because I have already announced

         22  the Commissioner, but we are going to try to figure

         23  how to do this.

         24                 Council Member Lopez.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: To each and

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  every one of you, do you know of any campaign that

          3  included posters, notification, messages, television

          4  ads, New York papers ad, clarifying for the public

          5  that they can benefit from utilizing the Human

          6  Rights laws because they do represent and defend

          7  people of transgender experience. Have you ever seen

          8  such a campaign? Have you ever seen such a

          9  communication? Have you ever been clarified that

         10  that is the case?

         11                 MS. PARK: If I could respond to that,

         12  Council member? We, when we met with the Commission

         13  in April 1999 we collected some of their material,

         14  and there was nothing in that material whatsoever

         15  that would indicate that transgender and

         16  gender-variant people would be covered, or that

         17  gender was meant, was interpreted by the Commission

         18  to include transgendered people.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then the answer

         20  is that you have never seen such a campaign, such a

         21  clarification in black and white, or white and

         22  black, never? Or a color of any other kind?

         23                 MS. PARK: Or any other color.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: How about the

         25  other members of the panel?
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          2                 MS. BLUMENSTEIN: Just to add to that,

          3  actually, I have seen the complete opposite via

          4  media in regards to the transgender experience. I

          5  see television shows, I see campaigns that focus

          6  specifically on these are communities that we can

          7  torture, that we can make fun of.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: How about the

          9  rest of the panel?

         10                 MR. FOREMAN: Not only is it safe to

         11  say that the Human Rights Commission hasn't

         12  conducted such a campaign that we are aware of, as I

         13  indicated in my testimony, some of the most

         14  pervasive discrimination that we see against people

         15  of transgender experience takes place, is acted out

         16  by City employees, including the New York City

         17  Police Department, the New York City Department of

         18  Homeless Services, and the Human Resources

         19  Administration and Health and Hospitals Corporation.

         20                 So, if the Human Rights Commission

         21  hasn't been able to educate the City bureaucracy, it

         22  is very safe to say it hasn't educated the rest of

         23  New York.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: How about the

         25  rest of the panel?
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          2                 I need to hear from every one of you,

          3  on the record.

          4                 MS. JEFFERSON: No, not to my

          5  knowledge.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That means that

          7  none of you have ever seen this, and all of you are

          8  New Yorkers who live here for how long? How long do

          9  you live here?

         10                 MS. JEFFERSON: I was born in

         11  Brooklyn.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: How long have

         13  you lived in New York?

         14                 MS. JEFFERSON: Twenty-seven.

         15                 MS. PARK: Six years.

         16                 MS. BLUMENSTEIN: Too long.

         17                 MR. FOREMAN: Fifteen years.

         18                 MR. KING: Twenty-four years.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: None of your

         20  organizations have received a request, a meeting to

         21  meet with the Commission, to help the Commission to

         22  reach out to your communities? None of them have

         23  been telling you that you are in need to help the

         24  Commission to reach out to these communities who

         25  have been discriminated? And just tell me yes or no,
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          2  have you been approached by the Commission?

          3                 MS. PARK: I need to say yes in two

          4  small instances. The Community Relations Bureau did

          5  ask us to do a training session back in May of 1999,

          6  which we did for about half a dozen of their staff

          7  members, for the Manhattan and Staten Island Bureau,

          8  it was an internal thing.

          9                 The only other instance was about a

         10  month ago when I was asked to speak on a panel

         11  regarding diversity, and I was one of several other

         12  members who was invited by Amelio St. Sierra

         13  (phonetic), the Community Relations Bureau, and that

         14  invitation was much appreciated. But I am unaware of

         15  any public campaign to make City agencies or

         16  ordinary citizens aware of the Commission's

         17  position, which is apparently that, now, that

         18  transgender people are covered under current law.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You answered

         20  that question before. What I want to know, the

         21  agencies that you represent, the places that you

         22  work for, the people who are here who work for

         23  agencies, have you ever received a request for the

         24  Human Rights Commission to go and help them to make

         25  clear to the public that the transgendered community

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  is covered?

          3                 MS. PARK: No.

          4                 MR. KING: Absolutely not.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          8                 Council Member Quinn.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: This is to the

         10  whole panel: Have any of you, in your present

         11  positions, or other positions you have held where

         12  you worked with the transgendered community, ever

         13  come across a client who has gone to the Human

         14  Rights Commission and had their case accepted by the

         15  Commission and had the Commission move forward with

         16  a charge against, you know, a landlord or whomever,

         17  that the person was discriminated against because of

         18  their gender identity?

         19                 MS. PARK: I am aware of two or three

         20  cases in which the Commission took cases from

         21  transgendered people. In one case a woman named

         22  Barbara Hernandez, I am not quite sure if she is

         23  here, told me that two years ago, in June of 1999,

         24  she went to file a complaint with the Commission.

         25  She has yet to hear back from them, or to get any
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          2  concrete determination.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: How long ago

          4  was that, Pauline?

          5                 MS. PARK: June of 1999.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.

          7                 MS. PARK: I can give you the exact

          8  date.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: No, no, no,

         10  that's fine.

         11                 MS. PARK: But in any case, she told

         12  me that the staff person at the Commission seemed

         13  extremely uninterested and unenthusiastic, and it

         14  was only at her insistence that they even agreed to

         15  take the complaint, to file the complaint, but they

         16  never followed up on it.

         17                 Another case, which was about a month

         18  ago, a transgendered woman, transexual woman on

         19  Staten Island, filed a case of discrimination with

         20  the Commission. She told me, Jean Deutchman

         21  (phonetic), told me that her -- when she went down

         22  to the Commission to file, the staff person who took

         23  her complaint was so confused as to whether or not

         24  she was covered, this woman went back and forth to

         25  her supervisor at least three times to try to figure
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          2  out whether she was even covered and had any right

          3  under City law. And I would submit to you, Council

          4  Member Quinn, and Mr. Chairman, that if that is the

          5  case, and this is last month, clearly there must be

          6  confusion within the commission and if there is

          7  confusion within the commission, it could hardly be

          8  clear to City agencies which are employers in this

          9  City.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         11                 Okay, someone else?

         12                 MS. BLUMENSTEIN: Yes.

         13                 Just to add to that, Chris, this is

         14  sort of a set-up. The reality is if somebody is

         15  attempting to juggle multiple stressors in their

         16  life, just by going to Human Rights Commission, if

         17  you are living in a hostile environment, you cannot

         18  juggle all of these different stressors in their

         19  life. If we change this bill, that is on less

         20  stressor, so that some of us that are social workers

         21  would have an opportunity really to support the

         22  individual in crisis and be able to advocate with a

         23  bill that clearly states that this person is

         24  protected, which might give them an opportunity to

         25  excel.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

          3                 Thank you, Ros.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I'm sorry, if

          5  you can all wait one more second, Council Member

          6  Linares.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you. I

          8  am very pleased to be one of the sponsors of this

          9  bill, and to have committed early on to this

         10  process, and I can safely say as an immigrant, and

         11  most of us are either children or grandchildren or

         12  immigrants in this country, we know what the meaning

         13  of discrimination is and that is why we have a human

         14  rights law in the City of New York as an example for

         15  the rest of the country.

         16                 I want to ask to any of you from a

         17  legal perspective, in the absence of pursuing

         18  justice through the Human Rights Commission, is

         19  there any other avenue available to you that you may

         20  have pursue whenever an injustice may have taken

         21  place?

         22                 I want to clear this and put this out

         23  in the open, because I believe that there is a

         24  reason why this legislation, this amendment is being

         25  introduced to this particular angle of human rights,
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          2  and I was just wondering for the sake of all of us,

          3  whether there is any other legal mean to pursue

          4  protecting your rights?

          5                 MS. PARK: Could I respond to that?

          6                 First of all, Council Member Linares,

          7  I would like to thank you for your support and

          8  sponsorship of this bill, which is so important,

          9  especially in your position as Chair of the Black

         10  and Latino Caucus of the Council.

         11                 Secondly, I would like to say, as a

         12  transgendered woman of Asian birth, I have a

         13  particular commitment to addressing the multiple

         14  questions that transgendered people of color,

         15  including transgendered immigrants face in this

         16  City, and that commitment is also reflected in

         17  NYAGRA's organizational work.

         18                 Third, I think one of the

         19  difficulties with discrimination law, as you know,

         20  is that unless the Commission clearly understands a

         21  certain group is covered, most discrimination

         22  lawyers probably won't even take a case if they are

         23  unsure whether the client is actually covered under

         24  the law, regardless of the merits of the case. And

         25  since most transgendered people who face
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          2  discrimination are either low income, or in many

          3  cases no income, they are not in a position to pay

          4  lawyers, except through a contingency fee basis,

          5  which as I say, those lawyers are unlikely to

          6  accept.

          7                 So, the reality is that without this

          8  legislation, there will be no clear signal, not only

          9  to the Commission and City agencies, but also to

         10  discrimination attorneys, that they can actually

         11  take these cases because their clients are covered,

         12  regardless of the merits to the particular cases.

         13                 So, I think it is absolutely crucial,

         14  as is implicit in your comments, that this

         15  legislation be passed.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you

         17  very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         19  Council Member.

         20                 Thank you, all, for your testimony.

         21                 Now, I want to say something. The

         22  Commissioner has been here for the entire time. She

         23  is one of the most cooperative commissioners that

         24  appears before this Committee, whether people agree

         25  or disagree with any particular aspect of what the
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          2  Commissioner has to say either today, yesterday or

          3  tomorrow, I want people who know my work know, and

          4  this Committee is a very aggressive Committee,

          5  having said that, I am telling you, as someone who

          6  has done battle with many who won't cooperate with

          7  this Committee, this Commissioner appears before us,

          8  always cooperates with the Committee, and I just

          9  wanted people to understand that.

         10                 Commissioner, as you know, everyone

         11  is first addressed by Counsel to the Committee. So,

         12  both you and your Deputy, in case he will be giving

         13  some of the answers, should address your attention

         14  to the Counsel to the Committee.

         15                 MR. NEWMAN: Do you solemnly swear or

         16  affirm that the testimony you are about to give is

         17  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the

         18  truth?

         19                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: I do.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: Yes.

         21                 MR. NEWMAN: Please state your names

         22  and affiliations for the record.

         23                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: Marta Varela,

         24  Commissioner/Chair, New York City Commission on

         25  Human Rights.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: Randolph

          3  Wills, Deputy Commissioner of the Law Enforcement

          4  Bureau, New York City Commission on Human Rights.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Commissioner,

          6  just before you begin, let me also introduce another

          7  member of the Council, although not a member of the

          8  Committee actually involved in the work of this

          9  Committee, Council Member Stan Michels, who has

         10  joined us, and I want to acknowledge him.

         11                 Commissioner, you have prepared

         12  testimony, I believe?

         13                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: I believe I gave

         14  it to the Sergeant-At-Arms at the beginning.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Great. Thank

         16  you.

         17                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: I have extra

         18  copies here, if you are short.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         20  It's always nice to see you.

         21                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: Thank you.

         22                 It's nice to see the Council Members,

         23  and good to be with you this afternoon, Mr. Chair.

         24                 I am pleased to testify today with

         25  respect to the applicability of the New York City
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          2  Human Rights Law to gender identity issues.

          3                 We are here today to provide

          4  interpretation of the current Human Rights law. We

          5  are not here to offer a position vis-a-vis the

          6  proposed legislation.

          7                 Having said that, as you know, the

          8  New York City Human Rights law is one of the most

          9  comprehensive civil rights laws in the nation. Its

         10  broad protection is designed to eliminate all forms

         11  of unlawful discrimination in the City of New York.

         12                 With regard to the issue that is

         13  before the Committee today, it is the Commission's

         14  view that transgender persons can claim protection

         15  from discrimination based on the current law and its

         16  interpretation.

         17                 Under current interpretation of the

         18  New York City Human Rights law, transgendered

         19  persons have available to them two bases under which

         20  to assert a claim of discrimination, those are

         21  gender and disability.

         22                 Enacted in 1965, Local Law 97

         23  prohibited, among other things, discrimination based

         24  on sex. Some years later the Council amended the law

         25  to substitute gender for sex.
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          2                 The substitution effectively expanded

          3  the protections afforded by the law, because courts

          4  generally have interpreted the term gender more

          5  broadly than sex, understanding gender to refer to a

          6  persons psychological sexual identity, and sex to

          7  refer to a persons distinguishing biological or

          8  anatomical characteristics.

          9                 Thus, the prohibition of

         10  discrimination based on gender in the City's Human

         11  Rights law, as it is currently interpreted by the

         12  Commission and by the courts that have addressed the

         13  issue, those are two courts, affords protection

         14  against discrimination to persons who are

         15  transgendered.

         16                 In addition to the protection

         17  afforded to transgendered persons on the basis of

         18  gender, the New York City Human Rights law also

         19  prohibits discrimination against them on the basis

         20  of disability.

         21                 In 1994, the Commission issued a

         22  decision and order finding that a transgendered

         23  person who wore feminine attire, but had not had any

         24  surgery, could bring a claim of handicapped

         25  discrimination. Disability was substituted for this
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          2  term in 1991, based on the complainant's gender

          3  dysphoria. Described as an incongruence between a

          4  person's assigned sex and their sense of themselves

          5  as male or female, and that is the Arroyo case

          6  versus the New York City Health and Hospitals

          7  Corporation.

          8                 Under the law's current definition of

          9  disability, which no longer requires that an

         10  impairment substantially limit one or more major

         11  life activities, claims asserted by transgendered

         12  persons, pursuant to this provision, have even

         13  greater viability.

         14                 It is my hope that this brief summary

         15  has clarified the current protections afforded by

         16  the City's law to persons who are transgendered,

         17  consistent with its mandate to eliminate all forms

         18  of unlawful discrimination.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         21  Commissioner.

         22                 As always, I appreciate, as I say

         23  many times when you appear before us, the direct and

         24  straightfoward testimony. Many of the commissioners

         25  that appear before us, it takes forever to get to
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          2  their point, and you are always direct and to the

          3  point.

          4                 Let me ask you, can you provide for

          5  Counsel to the Committee any of the written material

          6  that the Commission may have surrounding Maffei

          7  versus Kolaeton Industries or Rentos versus

          8  Oce-Office Systems or the Arroyo case, if, in fact

          9  --

         10                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: We can do it right

         11  now.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: -- You have

         13  material, back-up material, that would be helpful.

         14                 Part of what these hearings do is

         15  allow all of us to present our positions, you know,

         16  obviously our interpretations and the like, and

         17  allow for staff then to take that material and do

         18  further work from their point of view on behalf of

         19  us as a Committee. So, that would be helpful.

         20                 Questions for the Commissioner?

         21                 Council Member Perkins.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         23  very much.

         24                 Commissioner, can you help me to

         25  understand how disability applies, how that category
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          2  makes some kind of sense in this particular, with

          3  regard to this particular class of --

          4                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: I think I can.

          5                 The New York City Human Rights law is

          6  the broadest in the country, I would say, with

          7  respect to the definition of disability.

          8                 The federal law requires that

          9  substantially limit one or more major life

         10  activities is the test that has to be met.

         11                 Under the City's law, any physical or

         12  psychological impairment will function, will create

         13  sufficiency for a cause of action. So that people

         14  who are transgendered and transexual, and arguably

         15  also gender-variant, although it is unclear to me

         16  exactly what that's meant -- what is meant by that,

         17  would be included because they would easily, if they

         18  wanted to, because they would also have access to

         19  the gender cause of action, could avail themselves

         20  of the disability law because the definition of

         21  gender dysphoria neatly fits into the definition

         22  that was offered by the earlier speaker Pauline Park

         23  when she outlined the different categories of

         24  transgendered experience.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, if
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          2  someone, what is called "gender dysphoric," is that

          3  the word?

          4                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: That's the

          5  psychological classification.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What I am

          7  trying to -- how much of the community would be

          8  described as gender dysphoric?

          9                 I mean, does everyone in the

         10  community --

         11                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: I can't answer

         12  that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Then if we

         14  are not gender dysphoric, if they are not-- how does

         15  one determine that someone is gender dysphoric?

         16                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: I think that the

         17  self-identification is the crucial issue.

         18                 And because it is under the

         19  disability law, then there would be a substantiation

         20  by a competent medical person. But once that is

         21  provided, and it can be as simple as something, a

         22  one sentence written on a piece of paper by a

         23  treating physician, that would be sufficient for the

         24  Commission to have a complaint filed.

         25                 In fact, I think the Deputy
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          2  Commissioner who actually handles the prosecutions

          3  would like to have a word on this subject.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: Very

          5  briefly. This presentation today, particularly in

          6  regard to the disability provisions of this, current

          7  provisions --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Commissioner,

          9  please speak up.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: The

         11  current disability provisions of the New York City

         12  Human Rights law is we are not advocating a position

         13  that if somebody wants to file under the City's

         14  human rights law they should obtain a diagnosis of

         15  some kind to avail themselves of the disability

         16  provisions of that law. We are simply stating that

         17  that exists. It was an earlier interpretation from

         18  1994 of our law by a judge who was interpreting our

         19  law, and we are simply saying that gender has been

         20  interpreted by two forms, and we have heard a lot of

         21  discussion about that today, we don't need to go

         22  into it again, to afford protections for persons who

         23  are transgendered.

         24                 I don't want you to leave with the

         25  impression that we think if you are a person of
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          2  transgendered experience, that you need to avail

          3  yourself of the disability provisions of our law or

          4  consider yourself in any way disabled. It's just an

          5  interpretation of the law, and I just want to

          6  clarify that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you for

          8  the clarification. I guess that is the concern that

          9  I have, which is that if you are transgendered, you

         10  are disabled, that's the implication of what was

         11  said.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: That was a

         13  decision in one particular case, and that was,

         14  again, a case that was begun actually I believe in

         15  1991, 1992, went to trial, a decision issued in

         16  1994, and the individual in that particular case,

         17  and we are going to provide you all with a copy of

         18  that decision, Ms. Arroyo in that particular case,

         19  actually at one point identified herself that way,

         20  as being gender dysphoric, so that is what the judge

         21  had before her --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: She used that

         23  terminology?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: She did.

         25  You will see that in the record of the case when it
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          2  comes down.

          3                 But that is a specific case that

          4  found for the first time that a person who was a

          5  transexual, in this particular case it was a

          6  transexual, was covered by the disability provisions

          7  of the Human Rights law, and it was a finding by a

          8  Human Rights law administrative judge, our judges

          9  are now at OATH. But that is really all it does. It

         10  just established that disability is a rubric under

         11  which claims may be brought, but please understand

         12  this is not a rubric under which we think the

         13  complaints must be brought, and we certainly do not

         14  believe that people of transgendered experience are

         15  disabled.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: But you can

         17  understand how one, unfortunately, might come to

         18  that conclusion.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: I can

         20  understand how one can come to that conclusion, if

         21  that is all one has before you whenever you are

         22  considering this particular issue. And, again, as

         23  the Commissioner pointed out in her testimony, and

         24  as you have heard in earlier testimony, we believe

         25  that gender, as it is currently used in the Human
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          2  Rights law, does cover people of transgendered

          3  experience. There will be a lot of discussion about

          4  that, there certainly is fair amount of discussion

          5  as to the significance of one state court and one

          6  federal court decision in that area and there are

          7  other corollary issues that have been raised that I

          8  think are worthy of attention. We simply came to

          9  tell you what the interpretation is now. There are

         10  many other issues that have been raised today that

         11  are best addressed by all of you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You can

         13  possibly even understand that there is some

         14  ambiguity, in other words, in the law?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: I don't

         16  think there is ambiguity. I think the definition, at

         17  least our reading of the cases. Certainly it is

         18  clear that disability has been defined that way.

         19  There is no question about that. The issue around

         20  gender, the two decisions that you will be provided

         21  with today are also quite clear, that the City's

         22  Human Rights law use of the term gender is to be

         23  interpreted very broadly to protect people who are

         24  transgendered in the specific cases before those

         25  courts.
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          2                 You will look at these decisions and

          3  you will draw your own conclusions. Our conclusions

          4  are that these courts have given the proper broad

          5  interpretation to the current term gender in the

          6  law.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, I just

          8  want to say in conclusion that I think you helped to

          9  establish that there is ambiguity, and I think that

         10  you have helped to establish that it is a matter of

         11  interpretation, and I think that you have sort of

         12  underscored I guess why we are suing legislation

         13  that is very explicit that does not even connect

         14  transgender with disability. It is almost like

         15  connecting discrimination on the basis of race with

         16  disabled. Either you can file because you have been

         17  discriminated against as a black man, or you can

         18  file as being disabled, and it would be kind of

         19  insulting, to say the least, to suggest that, and

         20  maybe even riotous, to suggest that, and I think

         21  that we have within the law, at least as I am

         22  understanding the Commissioner's interpretation,

         23  that kind of concern, that kind of ambiguity that

         24  compels a legislative body like us to clear it up.

         25  And I want to thank you for helping us verify the
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          2  mission that we are on.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Council Member

          4  Lopez.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Commissioner,

          6  thank you for being here one more time, this is I

          7  think the third time I see you to testify in this

          8  house, and I appreciate that you come now to bring

          9  your testimony.

         10                 I need to get some clarification

         11  because I have been told a lot of things, and the

         12  only person who can clarify this for me is you,

         13  particularly because I think you are the only person

         14  who has the authority to clarify this at this point.

         15                 Then saying that, in order for

         16  somebody to carry a diagnosis of gender dysphoria,

         17  they have to go to a psychiatrist, correct?

         18                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: I think it is a

         19  question if someone were to come to us, I mean I

         20  think if someone comes to us and self-identifies, as

         21  in the case that the Deputy Commissioner cited, I am

         22  gender dysphoric, I mean in the context of the

         23  litigation of an adversarial proceeding, the

         24  argument from the opposing counsel would be you are

         25  not gender dysphoric. So, in such a circumstance
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          2  then some medical testimony from a psychiatrist

          3  would probably be used, some expert testimony. But

          4  the issue is the self-identification. I mean, you

          5  know, when people come to our office it is not just

          6  in terms of transgendered cases, but in terms of a

          7  variety of categories where by the basic observation

          8  of the person you cannot determine exactly what the

          9  status is. It is sufficient for us that the person

         10  self-identifies.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: If somebody

         12  comes to the Commission and said that they are

         13  gender dysphoric, you are self-diagnosis?

         14                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then you are

         16  said self-diagnosis by somebody who is not a

         17  psychiatrist, diagnosing themselves has having a

         18  psychiatric and mental illness, because gender

         19  dysphoria goes under that category, and they are

         20  diagnosing themselves.

         21                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: Well, we are doing

         22  that for the purpose of stating cause of action. We

         23  are starting the complaint.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then if I go to

         25  your Commission, and I am not in a wheelchair, and I
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          2  said I am here because I have been discriminated

          3  because I am different-enabled (phonetic), I need to

          4  get access to places but they don't have ramps, or

          5  you see my legs walking and I say I need a ramp in

          6  this building and I cannot go there, and I said I am

          7  coming here to file a complaint, as a person who is

          8  disabled who need access --

          9                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: I think I follow

         10  where you are going, but I think the answer is, yes,

         11  we would take the complaint.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Based on me

         13  needing a wheelchair although I walk and --

         14                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: Yes, because our

         15  obligation is to investigate the complaint, and only

         16  after an investigation of the merits of the

         17  complaint would we come to a final determination. In

         18  order to initiate the complaint, it is required that

         19  you identify yourself within a protected class. I

         20  mean, otherwise we couldn't take the complaint.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: How many cases

         22  the Commission has brought during your tenure under

         23  gender cover that is guided toward the transgendered

         24  community? Can you tell me?

         25                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: I will let the
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          2  Deputy Commissioner speak to that.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: And I will

          4  provide you with that.

          5                 We get very, very few cases per year

          6  involving persons who are transgendered, and

          7  probably fewer than ten a year for the past, oh, as

          8  many years as I can remember, certainly eight or ten

          9  years. I don't know what the breakdown is, I will

         10  provide that information to you.

         11                 The number that are filed under

         12  gender, the number that have been filed perhaps

         13  under disability, I will provide that for you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But you

         15  understand it is --

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: It's a

         17  very small number.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: -- Less than

         19  ten?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: I believe

         21  so, yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You were here

         23  when the testimony of the AVP was presented.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And they said
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          2  the increment on discrimination and abuses against

          3  the transgendered community, you were here when they

          4  said that, 126 percent increase. What do you think

          5  is happening in the transgender community that they

          6  understand that your house is not a house? What do

          7  you understand is happening in the transgender

          8  community that they understand that there is not a

          9  space for them in the Human Rights Commission, that

         10  they don't go on file with you? You are the one that

         11  is supposed to represent them the most and better.

         12  What do you think is it if the AVP said here, that

         13  they have an increase of 126 percent abuses, that

         14  you are getting less than ten cases a year, what do

         15  you think it is due to?

         16                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: Well, I don't

         17  think I can answer the question, first of all,

         18  because I think it begs the response. I think it's a

         19  leading question. I think that it suggests the

         20  answer.

         21                 But I think that, look, I don't think

         22  we are here as opponents of the legislation. I think

         23  it is very important that all of you understand

         24  that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understand
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          2  that, but I need to uncover something here,

          3  Commissioner, and what I need to uncover is that the

          4  Mayor of this City has put a memorandum out there

          5  saying to this body that we don't have no business

          6  modifying the law because the law is covered. And we

          7  need to clarify this because there are human beings

          8  in here who are treated less than dogs. I need a

          9  clarification. I just need a clarification. And I

         10  don't see you as an enemy on this. I don't see you

         11  as a person who is trying to avoid the question, but

         12  somebody is not saying the truth, Commissioner, and

         13  if these people are covered, then they are covered.

         14  But if they are not, why we cannot fix it for them

         15  to be covered?

         16                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: Well, I think,

         17  first of all, that the Mayor did not say what you

         18  impuded to him. I think that all of us have worked

         19  on transgendered cases, and although there are few,

         20  there are certainly ones that I remember, and I

         21  think that the idea here today is really to gather

         22  information, and I can't answer sort of rhetorical

         23  questions. I can simply tell you what the courts

         24  have interpreted the law to be. Now, that may not be

         25  clear enough for the transgendered community. That's
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          2  an entirely different issue from whether the law is

          3  sufficient, and that is the political question. We

          4  are simply testifying as to the status of the law,

          5  and it sounds quite technical, but that is what we

          6  are here to do today. I am not here to suggest in

          7  your mind that because the law is somewhat technical

          8  in the way that it reaches the transgendered

          9  community, notwithstanding that I have told you that

         10  the transgendered community is covered by two

         11  different protected classes, that you should all be

         12  happy with that. I am not saying that, and I would

         13  like not to be mischaracterized as saying that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I hear you and

         15  I thank you for clarifying that. I hear that. Two

         16  questions, and then I am finished.

         17                 Have you conducted any complaint

         18  during your tenure in the Human Rights Commission to

         19  reach out to the transgendered community in order to

         20  clarify to them that they are covered, that they are

         21  welcome and that they can be served under being

         22  transgendered, and being represented?

         23                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: Well, I think that

         24  we have, we have done so in the last two years, as

         25  Ms. Park indicated, we did an in-house training. And
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          2  by the way, I wouldn't denegrate the in-house

          3  training because the idea is to train the trainer.

          4  The idea is that we do the training in-house because

          5  exponentially we are able to train more people. We

          6  then go out to communities and we train communities

          7  in those protections. And we also, as Ms. Park

          8  indicated, did the training last month.

          9                 Now, can we do more? Of course we

         10  can, and of course we want to do more and we are

         11  here to work in partnership with you to provide the

         12  fullest coverage available to this community with

         13  whom we feel an understanding of their circumstance,

         14  because we have had the experience, although it may

         15  be sort of on a very technical and pointy headed

         16  legal basis, we do not consider ourselves strangers

         17  to the transgendered community. And also there are

         18  people in this room with whom I have dealt on social

         19  occasions. In fact, I remember a particular event at

         20  police plaza where one of the earlier speakers was

         21  the MC, and I am pleased to see that person here

         22  today.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Council Member

          3  Quinn, and then we will wrap this section up, and

          4  then Senator Duane is graciously waiting.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

          6                 Do you know how many people came to

          7  the Commission seeking assistance who were of

          8  transgender experience and were turned away, who

          9  were told either they didn't identify correctly or

         10  they didn't --

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: It is my

         12  hope that none were turned away, and if people were

         13  turned away, and I can't imagine that they were, if

         14  they were turned away simply because they identify

         15  themselves as transgendered, I will address that

         16  very seriously.

         17                 I don't believe anyone is turned away

         18  who has come to us with a complaint that involves

         19  their status as being a transgendered person, and

         20  there may be -- and I understand on staff there are

         21  people who still may have some confusion about that;

         22  first of all, nobody can leave the Human Rights

         23  Commission the day they come down for an interview

         24  until at least the supervising attorney has been

         25  consulted, and they have all been trained in this
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          2  area.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Do you have

          4  numbers then of how many people kind of went through

          5  Phase I?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And then how

          8  many didn't come out the other end?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: I have

         10  numbers. I have records of every one who came to the

         11  Human Rights Commission and filled out an intake

         12  form which is step one in the entire process.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: Some of

         15  those people did not file a complaint for a variety

         16  of reasons. I am not speaking about transgendered

         17  people --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: No, I

         19  understand that.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: I am

         21  talking about complainants and potential

         22  complainants in general, there are a variety of

         23  reasons why a complaint may not be written. But I

         24  will find out for you --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: -- Whether

          3  anyone who was transgendered was turned away for a

          4  reason related to a status as a transgendered

          5  person, not because they have decided they don't

          6  want to pursue it, or it's a matter that we don't

          7  deal with.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, except if

          9  it is a matter that you don't deal with --

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: A matter

         11  that we don't deal with, for example, like an

         12  immigration matter.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Oh, okay.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: That's

         15  what I'm speaking of.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: We deal

         18  with housing and employment and public

         19  accommodations, we don't do immigration.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.

         21                 Part of the reason I ask that

         22  question is because when the Commissioner was kind

         23  of clarifying -- was answering Council Member Lopez'

         24  question -- or I am sorry, maybe it was Council

         25  Member Perkins' question -- where you said, you
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          2  know, you had to assert that the person who came to

          3  the Commission, the victim, if you will, had to

          4  assert that they were part of a protected class?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: Yes. That

          6  information is solicited first on the intake sheet,

          7  and then during the course of an interview. We need

          8  to know, first of all, we need to know whether the

          9  statute, there is an allegation that the statute has

         10  been violated, and we can't do that unless somebody

         11  says I think I lost my job because --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: No, no, I

         13  understand that. Just so, you know, I want you to

         14  understand my concern --

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: Okay.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And my thinking

         17  is that, if one has to assert that they are part of

         18  a protected class, which, therefore, their

         19  protection was violated, then one, and it goes to

         20  your point, Commissioner, about whether politically

         21  the law is clear enough. If one has to assert that,

         22  but one does not know that because there isn't

         23  information that defines gender as male, female,

         24  transgender male to female, transgender female to

         25  male, transexual pre-op, post-op, da-da-da-da, then
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          2  one is not going to know that they're part of a

          3  protected category. So, I guess that's why I'm very

          4  concerned about kind of the people who have come in

          5  and haven't come out, because with no malice on the

          6  part of the Commission if people don't know that

          7  they are part of a protected class they are not

          8  going to give your staff the right information.

          9                 So, I say all of that for you to

         10  understand what my concern is, which goes to the

         11  Commissioner's point from a political perspective of

         12  a user-friendly operational perspective is the law

         13  clear enough, and I think that data would help us,

         14  you know, see or not see that.

         15                 Along the same lines, has the

         16  Commission ever put out literature that clearly

         17  enumerated what the Commission believed gender to

         18  mean?

         19                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: No.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Would the

         21  Commission put out literature for mass consumption

         22  that had a definition of gender that was inclusive

         23  of the many categories that you alluded to being

         24  included in your understanding of the Commission's

         25  definition of gender?
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          2                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: Well, I think when

          3  you all pass this bill I think we will.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, my

          5  question is -- that is good.

          6                 Just for argument's sake -- that was

          7  very good -- just for argument's sake let's say we

          8  all left here and said, you know, that Commissioner

          9  was really convincing. You know, we agree with what

         10  the court cases say, it's in there, it's included in

         11  gender, I am going to set aside the disability

         12  thing, it's included in gender, we all leave here

         13  and say that's great, it's in there, but what we

         14  really need is education, would you all do that if

         15  the law wasn't passed?

         16                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: Yes. Yes, and I

         17  think we have started to make steps towards that. I

         18  think in the example we gave of the April '99

         19  training and the '99 training and the April training

         20  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: No, no. But I

         22  am not talking about internal training material.

         23                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: No, no. But the

         24  training that we were talking about with respect to

         25  the April training last month was an external
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          2  training, I believe. But, yes, of course we would be

          3  willing to do that. Not only would we be willing to

          4  do it, but it's our responsibility.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

          7  Commissioner. As always, I appreciate --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I have one

          9  short question. A little question, Mr. Chairman.

         10  Just a short question.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: A quick

         12  question, Council Member.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes.

         14                 I just want to, first, clarify my

         15  colleague's concern about your efforts prior to the

         16  passing or whether or not the bill is passed.

         17  Because your interpretation suggests that it's in

         18  there, it's just not explicit and that you will make

         19  it explicit in your public and other kind of

         20  communications.

         21                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: Well, yes, I think

         22  we would, and if we have been insufficient, I mean

         23  this has been a helpful hearing for us as well,

         24  because I think it is always helpful to hear from

         25  people in the community because you become aware of
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          2  the degree to which there may be a gap in service,

          3  and that is something that is very easily remedied.

          4  And we have I think sent to all of you our

          5  brochures, and I think that generally that there is

          6  a high quality, and I would imagine we can do a very

          7  high quality brochure with respect to the issues of

          8  gender and gender dysphoria, whether this bill is

          9  passed or not.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, now,

         11  with respect to the -- has there ever been a

         12  transgender case that came before you that resulted

         13  in a ruling of discrimination?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: There is a

         15  transgender case before us now that has resulted in

         16  a ruling, a finding of probable cause, that will go

         17  to trial. I am not at liberty to speak of it --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I don't want

         19  the details.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: -- Given

         21  the state right now, but, yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So there is

         23  one --

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: And then

         25  there is a finding of probable cause in a trial held
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          2  on Ms. Arroyo's case, a copy of which I am going to

          3  give you after --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: But that is

          5  the disability, that's not transgender per se?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: Right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am talking

          8  about someone that actually claimed to be

          9  transgender as per the definition that was given to

         10  us by Pauline --

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: Under the

         12  gender rubric? Because that is the only other

         13  protected class.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Right. Well,

         15  if it is under that rubric, but with that

         16  definition, that was -- apparently you use. You have

         17  a gender rubric, right?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  But it

         20  supposedly covers all of the categories that was

         21  provided to us by Pauline Park, right? The gender

         22  rubric covers all of those categories.

         23                 Has there ever been a case under that

         24  definition that came before you that was ruled as,

         25  other than this one that you are presently pursuing,
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          2  prior to the one that you are presently pursuing,

          3  has there ever been any other?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: The only

          5  case that has gone all the way through the trial and

          6  decision is one that has been alluded to today, a

          7  copy of which you will have later on.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And that's on

          9  disability, that's not on --

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: Yes, it

         11  is.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: There are

         14  other cases in the process, no other case has gone

         15  all the way to trial and to decision under that

         16  broader rubric that you just alluded to.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WILLS: But when I

         19  do my survey of all of the cases I will check.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. Thank

         21  you.

         22                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         24  Council Member.

         25                 Commissioner, I appreciate it. The
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          2  way it works is that the Counsel to the Committee

          3  will take the three, the two or three requests that

          4  we made, for example, for copies of the material,

          5  for some sense of the numbers, in light of your

          6  exchange with Council Member Quinn, and if there was

          7  a third, I think there was, we will send a quick

          8  letter out to you, and we appreciate that even,

          9  again, your testimony, and the fact that you stayed

         10  from the very beginning of the hearing or came at

         11  the beginning to listen to the panel, first two and

         12  then five people, that we appreciate that greatly.

         13  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRWOMAN VARELA: My pleasure. Thank

         15  you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Former Council

         17  member -- I like to say that -- and current State

         18  Senator Tom Duane, followed by Allen Roskoff, for

         19  the Public Advocate.

         20                 SENATOR DUANE: I do.

         21                 MR. NEWMAN: Do you solemnly swear or

         22  affirm that the testimony you are about to give is

         23  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the

         24  truth?

         25                 SENATOR DUANE: I do.
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          2                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you.

          3                 SENATOR DUANE: Thank you very much.

          4  Thank you for the opportunity to come before the

          5  Committee today. I want to whole-heartedly and very

          6  sincerely applaud the Council and the sponsors of

          7  this legislation and particularly the leadership of

          8  the group of Council members who are really pushing

          9  this bill forward, including, and especially those

         10  from Manhattan, Council Members Margarita Lopez, my

         11  own Council Member, Christine Quinn, Ronnie

         12  Eldridge, Guillermo Linares, Bill Perkins, I don't

         13  have to say anyone else because they are not here

         14  now, and, of course, Council Member Steve DiBrienza,

         15  who has just been a champion of this legislation.

         16                 I firmly believe that transgendered

         17  people, and in fact all New Yorkers need to have

         18  this legislation passed so that all New Yorkers are

         19  protected from discrimination.

         20                 In the past I have heard arguments

         21  that the legislation is not needed, but there is no

         22  doubt in my mind but that we do need to pass this

         23  legislation that is before you today.

         24                 In my time on the Council in working

         25  with this Administration and the Administration
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          2  before, it became more and more clear that we needed

          3  legislation to protect transgendered people, even

          4  though I and transgendered activists held meetings

          5  with people from the Human Rights Commission and

          6  other and Corp Counsel, a great deal of what they

          7  had to say, and I am not disputing their point of

          8  view that persons of transgender experience are

          9  already covered, I am not disputing it, but I am not

         10  agreeing with it. A lot of what they tend to believe

         11  and say would totally depend on some home run of a

         12  court case, which has not occurred to this point.

         13                 And I also think that it is too much

         14  of a burden to bear for the transgender community to

         15  actually come up with a case which would be a home

         16  run case, and if a case is appealed all the way to

         17  the state's highest court, there would be no way of

         18  ensuring that it's winning.

         19                 I don't think that you have to look

         20  much further than the most recent case of a night

         21  spot where two transgendered women were fired from

         22  their jobs. Nowhere in that story did I see anything

         23  about them saying they wanted to take the case to

         24  New York City's Human Rights Commission, and, in

         25  fact, I can't even begin to count the number of
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          2  times that people have come to my office because

          3  they have been discriminated against, in housing

          4  with the threat of eviction, they have lost their

          5  jobs, they are not being hired for a job based on

          6  their being transgendered, and just in day-to-day

          7  struggles, whether it is in Department stores or in

          8  the subway or wherever it is that public

          9  accommodation is threatened.

         10                 I tried to work with the City's

         11  Department of Homeless Services to try to make sure

         12  that persons of transgender experience in that

         13  system would have protections. It was not

         14  particularly successful. I believe we had a

         15  sensitive ear, but not really much has happened.

         16                 The same is true in the City's

         17  Division of AIDS Services and other agencies within

         18  HRA, even if we look at the City's history in issues

         19  like substance abuse or what happens within the

         20  Department of Corrections, clearly legislation is

         21  needed.

         22                 It is because of my experience and

         23  what I saw in the City of New York and what I have

         24  learned since I have gone to Albany, that I made it

         25  a point to make sure that the dignity for all
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          2  students act in my version of the Sex Orientation

          3  Non-Discrimination Act was transgender inclusive.

          4                 I was listening with interest to the

          5  previous testimony and really the bottom line is

          6  that with all of the cases which we all know about,

          7  with all of the cases which the Committee will hear

          8  about today of people being discriminated against,

          9  clearly whatever may or may not be in the law is not

         10  enough, and what we need is a clear, concise and

         11  strong language within the City's Human Rights law

         12  that says that people of transgender experience will

         13  be protected.

         14                 And only through that will not only

         15  people of transgender experience know to come

         16  forward, and, of course, what would happen is in the

         17  early stages the more cases that come before the

         18  Commission the better, because ultimately that will

         19  make it so there will be fewer cases in the future.

         20                 So, short term we want to encourage

         21  people to come before the Commission, so that long

         22  term everyone in New York City will get the message

         23  that discrimination against transgender people is

         24  against the law and will not be tolerated.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

          3  Senator. Always a pleasure to see you.

          4                 SENATOR DUANE: A pleasure to be here.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I like that

          6  formal thing, very good, Tom.

          7                 Allen Roskoff, on behalf of the

          8  Public Advocate Mark Green, a co-sponsor of the

          9  legislation.

         10                 Please give our regards to the Public

         11  Advocate. The only exception to being sworn in is if

         12  you are reading his statement. If you are going to

         13  comment then you will actually be sworn in. But if

         14  you are reading something --

         15                 Unless I am asked a question, I will

         16  just be reading his statement.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Great. Then

         18  you can read.

         19                 MR. ROSKOFF: Testimony of Public

         20  Advocate Mark Green.

         21                 I am proud to be a sponsor of this

         22  legislation and strongly urge its passage. We know

         23  that discrimination causes real suffering to its

         24  victims. It is not only the direct victims that

         25  suffer, when discrimination exists we all lose.
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          2  Society as a whole suffers whenever people are

          3  prevented from performing to their full potential,

          4  an inevitable result of discrimination.

          5                 I strongly supported and testified

          6  for passage of the Lesbian and Gay Rights bill years

          7  ago. Many people warned at that time that passage of

          8  the law would be detrimental to our great city. The

          9  bill passed in 1986, and not only did the sky not

         10  fall on us, but the City has prospered from its

         11  passage and New York has become a better place for

         12  all of us to work and live.

         13                 We now look back with amazement that

         14  there was such controversy over a measure requiring

         15  simple fairness and justice for a segment of our

         16  population. Today a different segment of our

         17  population is suffering from discrimination, people

         18  who are the targets of bias and who face hostility

         19  that causes them to live in fear for their safety.

         20  Violence against transgendered non-conforming people

         21  is a tragic reality in our City. The bill before the

         22  Council would protect this population by broadening

         23  the definition of gender to include a person's

         24  gender identity, self-image, appearance, behavior

         25  and expression. This expanded definition will ensure
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          2  that transexuals, the transgendered and

          3  transvestites among others are protected. This

          4  improved law will make it illegal to ignore another

          5  person's rights and feelings about how that person

          6  sees herself or himself. It would encourage

          7  tolerance and respect for diversity and will advance

          8  the principle of self-determination when it comes to

          9  gender identity.

         10                 This law will protect New Yorkers in

         11  employment, housing and public accommodations. While

         12  New York usually leads the rest of the nation with

         13  progressive policy, in adopting this bill, New York

         14  will be the 34th jurisdiction in the country to

         15  enact a transgender inclusive anti-discrimination

         16  law.

         17                 The State of Minnesota adopted

         18  legislation in 1993 that explicitly includes

         19  transgendered and gender-variant people. Other

         20  courageous progressive cities have adopted such

         21  laws, including San Francisco, Seattle, Ann Arbor,

         22  Michigan, Boulder, Colorado, Toledo, Ohio, and York,

         23  Pennsylvania.

         24                 Companies such as Lucent Technologies

         25  and Apple Computers have adopted
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          2  transgender-inclusive non-discrimination policies to

          3  help realize the full potential of their work

          4  forces.

          5                 Many gender-variant and gender

          6  non-conforming people come to New York because we

          7  are a metropolis with a reputation for openness and

          8  acceptance, fundamental components of the quality of

          9  life we enjoy here.

         10                 We are a haven for those who are too

         11  often shunned elsewhere. Gender-variant and gender

         12  non-conforming people ask for no more than equality,

         13  fairness, and the same chances for happiness as

         14  others.

         15                 I say it is the government's job to

         16  protect against discrimination. It is also our job

         17  to provide opportunity and opportunity can only

         18  really exist when people feel free to be who they

         19  really are and to be who they want to be.

         20                 I urge swift action on this Civil

         21  Rights Legislation, and I predict that in the future

         22  people will look back and say we did a really good

         23  thing, I wonder why we took so long to do it in the

         24  first place.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          3  Thank you.

          4                 Richard Burns and Barbra Ann Perina.

          5                 Sorry, Mr. Burns had to leave, he was

          6  here from the Lesbian and Gay Community Center.

          7                 Now, if you recall at the beginning I

          8  tried to explain the way the Council works. We had a

          9  set of scheduled witnesses so as to have the two

         10  legal kind of witnesses opening the panel and array

         11  of the different community folks involved in the

         12  issue, the Commissioner, so to hear some of their

         13  thoughts, and once in awhile some elected officials.

         14                 So we are done with the scheduled

         15  witnesses, there are lots and lots of people who

         16  signed up, and want to testify. The only real

         17  difference between being a scheduled witness and an

         18  unscheduled witness is you can't schedule 100 people

         19  because you don't know, you have to have some

         20  reasonable number.

         21                 And the secondary difference is that

         22  we use the time clock so that people can essentially

         23  give us the main theme of what they came to say and

         24  what they want on the record and that is just so

         25  that we can hear everybody, because otherwise we
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          2  wouldn't get to everybody. So, you are kind of stuck

          3  in a sense that you don't want to do it, but on the

          4  other hand, you have to do it. So, that's the only

          5  real difference. So, we will start that now, and I

          6  think we may have one or two electeds that we might

          7  have missed, but we will find their forms in a

          8  second.

          9                 And every witness has to be addressed

         10  by counsel first.

         11                 MR. NEWMAN: Do you solemnly swear the

         12  testimony you are about to give is the truth, the

         13  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         14                 BARBRA PERINA: I do.

         15                 MR. NEWMAN: Please state your name

         16  and affiliation for the record.

         17                 BARBRA PERINA: My name is Barbra Ann

         18  Perina, I am currently the Director of Educational

         19  Programming in Program Development for Human Service

         20  Centers, Incorporated, and I also currently serve as

         21  Co-chair of the New York City Department of Mental

         22  Health LGBT Issues Committee.

         23                 I would like to very quickly begin by

         24  thanking the members of the Committee for the

         25  opportunity to testify.
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          2                 As I have sat and listened to much of

          3  the preceding testimony, it appears that the focus

          4  of it was if individuals whose gender identity and

          5  expression conflicted with social cultural norms

          6  would or would not be protected under current

          7  statute, what protection would actually be provided?

          8                 For a moment I would like to discuss

          9  how the inclusion of the proposed specific language

         10  in the statute would and will directly affect

         11  members of this very disenfranchised and

         12  marginalized community.

         13                 The many individuals of transgender

         14  or transexual experience remain invisible because of

         15  the fear of blatant social discrimination that comes

         16  with being out, that invisibility brings with it

         17  numerous other problems and concerns not as obvious

         18  or as easily identified and dealt with by

         19  individuals who are out.

         20                 Those who are out in public are the

         21  most visible and most at risk for blatant

         22  discrimination and harassment, ranging from simple

         23  taunting and name calling to violence and ultimately

         24  death.

         25                 This discrimination crosses all race,
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          2  creed, color, social and economic status, though the

          3  morbid disenfranchise and further down the hierarchy

          4  of oppression one is, the greater the risk.

          5                 But I need to make it clear that

          6  having perceived privilege and status is by no means

          7  a guarantee of protection. Some of you sitting on

          8  this Committee before me know me, either personally

          9  or professionally. Many of you have considered me a

         10  respected member of not only the LGBT community, but

         11  of the behavioral health and social services

         12  community. Educated, articulate, sometimes quite

         13  opinionated, but certainly empowered. A loving

         14  spouse of 15 years, and a devoted parent to a

         15  seven-year-old son, a 16-year-old daughter, a

         16  home-owner, and live in Bellrose, Queens. But as

         17  recently as only two months ago I was victim of

         18  transphobic bias.

         19                 This occurred when I had severely

         20  injured myself with a power saw while making

         21  improvements to my home and had to activate the 911

         22  system. When the Fire Department arrived, the

         23  laughing among the company members was noticeable.

         24  The discussion among the company as to which of them

         25  would treat "it" was clear. The level of care was
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          2  questionable. And even explaining after how the

          3  injury had occurred, the question was still asked,

          4  by the Lieutenant, are you sure this was an

          5  accident, right? The implication clearly being that

          6  the injury must have been intentional.

          7                 You may ask how I can question the

          8  behavior of the Fire Department or the care

          9  delivered.  I can do that because from 1980 to 1985

         10  I served as a paramedic with the New York City

         11  Emergency Medical Service. And this obvious bias

         12  occurred despite the fact the dispatcher put out the

         13  emergency call to the responding units as a former

         14  member of the service.

         15                 This incident may seem minor or

         16  insignificant when compared to the horror stories

         17  you will probably hear this afternoon, but it lends

         18  credence to those stories and points to a larger

         19  issue and begs the question, when the men and women

         20  in the employ of the City of New York who are sworn

         21  to protect and serve the citizens will openly

         22  display this type of transphobic behavior during a

         23  medical emergency in front of my wife, my

         24  eight-year-old son, my neighbors, in my house in

         25  Bellrose, then what is occurring to other
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          2  individuals of transgender or transexual experience

          3  who may or may not be as empowered and supported as

          4  I. When these individuals are seeking assistance

          5  from social service agencies, or seeking housing

          6  employment or health care, I can tell you what

          7  occurs because I work with these individuals every

          8  day. The discrimination they face is not subtle, it

          9  is blatant and overt, causing increased stresses and

         10  complications to an already difficult and often

         11  life-threatening situation.

         12                 So, the question before you should

         13  not be does the language in the current city

         14  ordinance cover all individuals of gender-variant,

         15  transgender or transexual experience. It should be

         16  how quickly can we expand and improve upon that

         17  language we show without question or ambiguity that

         18  all New Yorkers are protected from bias and

         19  discrimination of any type. We need to remember that

         20  all oppressions are linked, and that the hierarchy

         21  of oppression and individuals of transexual or

         22  transgender experience are clearly on the bottom.

         23  By approving the addition of this proposed language

         24  not only send a message to individuals throughout

         25  New York that the City will not tolerate oppression
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          2  of any type against anyone, but you will empower

          3  thousands of individuals to access the services they

          4  so desperately need.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          7                 Now, in case anyone is wondering why

          8  that was longer than two minutes was since the other

          9  witness didn't come we allowed you to have two and

         10  two. But the two minutes go by, the bell goes off,

         11  we get to hear everybody and we try to do as best we

         12  can in an imperfect world. That's why.

         13                 We are going to take two more and

         14  then we will take a two-minute break, but let's get

         15  two more witnesses.

         16                 Carrie Davis and Melissa Sklarz.

         17                 MR. NEWMAN: Please raise your right

         18  hands.

         19                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

         20  the testimony you are about to give is the truth,

         21  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         22                 MELISSA SKLARZ: I do.

         23                 CARRIE DAVIS: I do.

         24                 MELISSA SKLARZ:  My name is Melissa

         25  Sklarz, I live on 14th Street. I am currently the
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          2  Chairperson of the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual,

          3  Transgender Committee of Community Board No. 2. In

          4  1999 I was the first transgendered person elected to

          5  office in New York, and I was elected judicial

          6  delegate in the 66th Assembly District.

          7                 CARRIE DAVIS: I am Carrie Davis, and

          8  I am speaking today as a counselor of the Gender

          9  Identity Project at the Lesbian, Gay Community

         10  Services Center. Also as a member of the New York

         11  Association of Gender Rights Advocacy, as Director

         12  of the Board of the International Foundation for

         13  Gender Education, and most importantly, I am

         14  speaking as a woman of transexual experience.

         15                 MELISSA SKLARZ: Thank you for having

         16  these hearings. I am grateful to Council Members

         17  DiBrienza, Quinn, Lopez, Reed, Perkins, and

         18  Eldridge. I am grateful to Pauline Park, Paisely

         19  Currah, NYAGRA, and the rest of the Intro. 754

         20  Coalition. I am thrilled to be part of this historic

         21  day.

         22                 May is an anniversary time for me.

         23  Eleven years ago in May I lost my apartment, ten

         24  years ago I lost my job and my career, nine years

         25  ago I applied for public assistance, spent time in
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          2  Housing Court trying to save my new apartment.

          3                 For me, my transgender, transexual

          4  journey was a bumpy ride.

          5                 After spending many years in various

          6  bars our community had to offer, I had to find

          7  different options and make different choices.

          8  Luckily for me I found the Lesbian and Gay Community

          9  Services Center. Even luckier, I found Dr. Barbara

         10  Warren and the Gender Identity Project.

         11                 At GIP I found a small group of

         12  transexual women trying to acknowledge similarities,

         13  instead of differences, instead of bar room and

         14  street values, I found the beginnings of a caring,

         15  sober community. Instead of internal voices telling

         16  me I was a freak and a misfit, I found a place where

         17  I mattered, like many of the people expressing

         18  themselves today found their voice in the gender

         19  identity project.

         20                 Soon I was stable enough to begin

         21  working, although the only work I could handle was

         22  cocktail waitress. Thanks to friends in the gay and

         23  lesbian community I found daytime temp work at GLAD,

         24  and then a permanent position at GMHC. In gratitude

         25  for the inspiration I spent four years in the
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          2  evenings at GIP as a peer counselor and an outreach

          3  worker.

          4                 For me stability begins with work. I

          5  am lucky, I am college educated. I thought I would

          6  outgrow my transgender transexual feelings over

          7  time. I was wrong.

          8                 To this day I am amazed how people

          9  create lives and careers in the wrong gender. I

         10  could barely survive, much less prosper.

         11                 While the Gender Identity Project

         12  wasn't oasis, the gifts there were small.

         13  Transgender people need the basics - housing,

         14  education, employment and health care. Transgender

         15  people are not unique in this respect in New York

         16  City.

         17                 Today the City of New York tells us

         18  that transgender people are legal within our city,

         19  they tell us it is illegal to reject us from entry

         20  level jobs because we look different, that it is

         21  legal to place us in male homeless shelters, in

         22  spite of years living within our female identities.

         23  They tell us it is illegal to fire us as school

         24  teachers while in gender transition, that it is

         25  illegal for the health care system to demand to
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          2  refer to us by outdated birth identities.

          3                 How could I have been so wrong in my

          4  own experience? What was I thinking? Where was the

          5  legal and institutional protection when I bounced

          6  through three and a half years of joblessness? Where

          7  was that protection when temp agencies rejected my

          8  job applications because of my inferior typing

          9  skills, in spite of my education and 15 years of

         10  corporate job experience?

         11                 I challenge New York to help us

         12  access the gifts of 21st century big city living.

         13                 Help us get our young people off the

         14  streets in the meat market with employment

         15  opportunities.

         16                 Help our educators find work based

         17  upon skill levels instead of hurtful, tired cliches.

         18                 Help us get legal identities to begin

         19  legal lives. Thank you, Carrie.

         20                 Help us find funding for life-giving

         21  projects that we can help ourselves.

         22                 Intro. 754 will not solve our

         23  problems within the culture, but it will send a

         24  signal of tolerance and compassion, it will legalize

         25  our concerns in our lives, it will tell all, when
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          2  you say no to one young or middle-aged transexual in

          3  the workplace or housing, then you will have the

          4  courts to answer to.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I am fast

          7  realizing that it seems like the norm is so far

          8  three minutes, the average time, not two, so we will

          9  set it for three minutes and we will just try to ask

         10  people to keep their applause to a minimum. After

         11  these two witnesses and the electeds, we are going

         12  to move probably three or four folks in a panel at a

         13  time. But we will use that, if that is the average

         14  testimony we want to hear.

         15                 CARRIE DAVIS: One extra minute is the

         16  norm for transgender people.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         18                 Carrie Davis, go.

         19                 CARRIE DAVIS: Thank you.

         20                 Many people feel it's their privilege

         21  to judge me on my appearance. Like most

         22  trans-people, my body seems to be a political act,

         23  and this is not because of my sexual orientation,

         24  this is because of the way I look and who I am seen

         25  as.
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          2                 Because of this process, I have been

          3  denied jobs, I have been denied housing, I have been

          4  denied services, I have been harassed and abused, I

          5  have been beaten and raped and I have had my

          6  children taken from me. Still I consider myself

          7  fortunate to be able to be here today. Through my

          8  work I am required to be a spokes-trans of some

          9  sort. It has become my job to become an out-woman of

         10  transexual experience, but when I am beaten and

         11  raped by someone who cannot accept the fact that he

         12  is attracted to me, or when I am confronted and

         13  pushed and shoved by men wandering the streets on a

         14  Saturday night, or surrounded and shouted at by 20

         15  people on the A Train, at those moments my status as

         16  a counselor and spokesperson offers no protection.

         17  At those moments I am not being attacked and abused

         18  because of my sexual orientation, at those moments I

         19  am subjected to terror because of the way I look and

         20  because of who I am seen as. When for nearly two

         21  years I was denied a job interview, or housing by

         22  real estate agents, it was not because of my sexual

         23  orientation, instead I was refused these basic

         24  necessary accommodations because of the way I looked

         25  and because of who I am seen as. And when I am
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          2  denied physical access to my two children, I am not

          3  being denied the simple and basic parental right

          4  because it is in my children's best interest, I

          5  don't endure this loss because of my sexual

          6  orientation, I have had my children taken from me

          7  because of the way I look and because of who I am

          8  seen as.

          9                 That part of me that contributes and

         10  nurtures is continually erased and obstructed.

         11  Still, I cannot see how it is anyone's best interest

         12  that the complex components that make me who I am

         13  are suppressed and obscured by a society that

         14  prefers more simple oppressions and more simple

         15  expressions.

         16                 I cannot see how it is in anyone's

         17  best interest to deny that transgender employees,

         18  lovers, spouses and parents exists, and none of this

         19  will in fact erase the reality that we as

         20  trans-people do exist, that we cannot be erased, and

         21  that we can touch and affect everyone.

         22                 Still, the result is plain and

         23  obvious to those that look and are willing to

         24  listen, the politics of attraction and power will

         25  always obscure the situation of those that cannot
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          2  afford to or are unable to speak for themselves.

          3  And, so, I, and my brothers and sisters, lost most

          4  of the privilege that our culture claims we are all

          5  able and entitled to, and instead we have learned to

          6  be afraid to change jobs, to fall in love, to take

          7  the subway, to go into different neighborhoods, to

          8  walk to the store and to go to the emergency room,

          9  and this fear is not because of our sexual

         10  orientations, we are afraid because of the way we

         11  look and because of who we are seen as. We are

         12  afraid because we are seen and identified as

         13  transgender people.

         14                 As time takes steps to end this

         15  oppression, Intro. 754 is the first step in a long

         16  journey. Remember, as William Smith writes, "our

         17  right to be different is in a deep sense the most

         18  precious right we human beings have."

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: We are just

         21  going to pick up the rest of the electeds, you know,

         22  they take the time to come, the elected officials,

         23  to come and be on the record.

         24                 John Fratta is a democratic leader

         25  from here in Lower Manhattan.
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          2                 John, please raise your right hand.

          3                 MR. NEWMAN: Do you solemnly swear or

          4  affirm the testimony you are about to give is the

          5  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          6                 MR. FRATTA: Yes, I do.

          7                 MR. NEWMAN: Please state your name

          8  for the record.

          9                 MR. FRATTA: John Fratta, Democratic

         10  District Leader for the Lower East Side, Lower

         11  Manhattan area.

         12                 I have come here today, first of all,

         13  to congratulate this body for righting a wrong that

         14  we have had in New York for a long time.

         15                 Although we hear the Administration

         16  saying that we don't need 754 because the

         17  transgender community is already protected under

         18  City Human Rights laws, you wouldn't have this room

         19  full of people today if that was true.

         20                 Transgender community is probably one

         21  of the last communities that is basically

         22  discriminated against and the system allows to

         23  continue.

         24                 This bill is a step in the right

         25  direction. How many more people have to lose an
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          2  apartment, lose a job, over their identity? This is

          3  wrong. This bill is good government, and not to pass

          4  this bill is bad government. And not to pass this

          5  bill is to allow discrimination to continue to a

          6  population that for years has been a very hidden

          7  population, considered small, but it is really not.

          8  It's a population that has been hidden in a locked

          9  room because of the fear of walking into the street

         10  and the fear of not being afforded the same

         11  protections that everyone else is.

         12                 So, I want to congratulate you for

         13  bringing this measure forward, and I really urge its

         14  passage. I think it is very important, the time is

         15  now, let's get it done.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         18                 Rachel Rawlings, Chris Lombardi,

         19  Kirra St. James, and Michaelangelo Galloza.

         20                 Okay, now, if, in fact, folks do not

         21  have written testimony, that's fine. That's more

         22  than acceptable. It just simply means that we ask

         23  everyone to make the point you think is most

         24  important for the members to hear and we will use

         25  the clock as a guide. I have given up using it
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          2  fully, but we will use it as a guide.

          3                 Everyone raise their right hand,

          4  please.

          5                 Do you swear or affirm the testimony

          6  you are about to give is the truth, the whole truth,

          7  nothing but the truth?

          8                 RACHEL RAWLINGS: Yes.

          9                 CHRIS LOMBARDI: Yes.

         10                 KIRA ST. JAMES: Yes.

         11                 MICHAELANGELO GALLOZA: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         13                 We will start, we will go from my

         14  right to the left straight across.

         15                 Identify yourself and, you know, make

         16  your comments.

         17                 RACHEL RAWLINGS: My name is Rachel

         18  Rawlings, I am a freelance writer in the East

         19  Village, former secretary of the Philadelphia

         20  Transexual Support Group, former HIV prevention

         21  counselor for the transexual sex worker community

         22  for Action AIDS, and for four years, the wife of a

         23  brilliant woman born in the Bronx.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You can give

         25  your statement and then each person will identify
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          2  along the way.

          3                 RACHEL RAWLINGS: Okay.

          4                 Even though I have only lived in New

          5  York for about eight months, I can still give some

          6  testimony about life in what little areas of the

          7  world outside New York.

          8                 For the last five years I lived in

          9  San Francisco where transexuals are explicitly

         10  included under the category of transgendered, and

         11  three counties nearby are considering similar laws.

         12                 Actually, New York's law, the bill

         13  presented here today, is much smarter. By explicitly

         14  including in the definition of gender, the

         15  definition that is being used in the medical and the

         16  psychological communities for roughly 20 to 25

         17  years, we include not just the transgendered, not

         18  just myself, but also the inter-sexed.

         19                 A player for the New York Sharks, who

         20  is discriminated against by an employer who doesn't

         21  believe that women should play football, even

         22  someone whose gender matches their sexual

         23  characteristics but is considered too over-the-top,

         24  too much like Jean' Claude Van Dam or Sharro.

         25                 I worked with the Commissioner for --
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          2  the Human Rights Commissioner testified that she

          3  believed that gender inclusiveness was sufficient by

          4  their -- the impairment of life activity that she

          5  talked about as a disability is not inherent in

          6  gender, it's a social impairment related to

          7  discrimination.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          9                 CHRIS LOMBARDI: My name is Chris

         10  Lombardi, and I am also just returned to New York

         11  after some time away. I was born in the Bronx, in a

         12  small community called Pelham Bay, where I didn't

         13  know anyone without a vala (phonetic) until I was

         14  nine, and I am a natal female, I am blessed to have

         15  my gender identification match the body I was born

         16  with. And it wasn't until I was about 35 that I fell

         17  in love with this wonderful woman here, that I

         18  became aware of this community of people who have

         19  had to struggle so hard against so much

         20  discrimination, both in terms of the struggle they

         21  have had to go through in their own lives, and the

         22  weight of being afraid of going to an emergency room

         23  and everything the people have been talking about.

         24  And I am a little embarrassed that my home community

         25  hasn't caught up so far with the developments in the
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          2  human rights legislation nationally, and I am now,

          3  however, very proud that, as my wife has just said,

          4  that it's being approached in such a comprehensive

          5  manner.

          6                 Also, as a journalist that covers

          7  human rights issues, I think it is very key and

          8  central that this basic oppression be remedied as

          9  soon as possible. And I just wanted to end with one

         10  other anecdote, which is, the Human Rights

         11  Commissioner said she wasn't clear what a non-gender

         12  dysphoric person is, and I just wanted to reference,

         13  I am getting a master's degree at City College of

         14  New York, and one of my fellow students is a young

         15  black woman who has a presentation that sometimes

         16  has her mistaken for a young black man, and she

         17  found herself in a police station suffering from law

         18  enforcement officials that had made that mistake,

         19  and it took hours and hours and hours to sort out

         20  and get some clarity and she spent a couple nights

         21  in jail as a result. So, this is a very direct

         22  effect that this law would have as well.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 MICHAELANGELO GALLOZA: My name is

         25  Michaelangelo Galloza, and I am 40 years old. I am
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          2  born and raised here in Brooklyn, in New York, and I

          3  feel really nervous about doing this. I wasn't born

          4  with like social anxiety, but I have it. So, I am

          5  very, very anxious, and I feel like I am going to

          6  lose it every couple of seconds, I'm going to pass

          7  out -- I am not going to pass out, don't worry.

          8                 But anyway, I have to sit and ask

          9  myself what am I going to talk about, 40 years in

         10  New York City and 40 years worth of discrimination,

         11  oppression, beatings, just like general abandonment,

         12  like hospitals, and teachers and you name it, I mean

         13  I feel like this, to pass this change is saving my

         14  life, okay? How many times have I had to endure

         15  getting physically beaten to near death on the

         16  street, because, oh, since you look like a man, you

         17  gotta take it like a man. How many times have I had

         18  to physically defend myself? I can't tell you, okay?

         19  Because I am born and raised here, and this has been

         20  since birth that I have been going through this, all

         21  right?

         22                 And even in my immediate family, all

         23  right? Discrimination has been that deep. My family

         24  is Puerto Rican, and I am the first generation born

         25  here, so the roots are pretty tight over there, and
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          2  they are not like totally up on all of this, you

          3  know, I can't describe very eloquently, but I think

          4  you get my meaning.

          5                 The educational system was a total

          6  let down for me because of this, and because of the

          7  poverty that I grew up -- because I grew up in

          8  poverty, I grew up, when there was a ghetto in East

          9  New York, okay? I mean, now we got the ghettos in

         10  the projects, but when we had the ghetto in

         11  East New York, okay, it was very, very difficult to

         12  get my education along with the burnings and the

         13  gunfire and everything that was going on at the same

         14  time, so it was very difficult, on top of the fact

         15  that, you know, I had to deal with this gender

         16  issue, you know?

         17                 So, on every level that you can

         18  possibly think of, the only thing that hasn't

         19  happened to me, you know, because I have been

         20  beaten, I have been raped, I have been, you name it,

         21  is that I am not dead, okay? That's about it. And

         22  this will ensure that something like this -- I mean,

         23  that people won't even have to go through half of

         24  the stuff that I have been through in this town.

         25                 So, thanks a lot.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          3                 Next.

          4                 KIRRA ST. JAMES: Good afternoon. My

          5  name is Kirra St. James. I am originally from

          6  Atlanta, Georgia. Basically what I want to speak

          7  about is the fact that I belong to a

          8  disproportionate number of people of color,

          9  transgender people of color, who are being pretty

         10  much pushed to the margins of survival tactics of

         11  survival tactics of surviving, such as prostitution,

         12  boosting, doing different things that necessarily I

         13  shouldn't have to do because society feels its okay

         14  to persecute us because of who we identify as, and I

         15  feel that I live in a country that sanctions the

         16  persecution of transgendered people, and what I want

         17  to get across is the fact that the time is now for

         18  us and for the Council members of New York City,

         19  which is supposed to be one of the most liberal

         20  cities in the country inn the world to implement a

         21  new law protecting specifically transgendered

         22  people, gender-variate people, because until this

         23  law is passed, we are going to forever be basically

         24  at the mercy of society when it comes to getting any

         25  type of resources and any type of assistance, and I
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          2  have had experience in the shelter system in New

          3  York City where I was sexually assaulted and I had a

          4  caseworker tell me that maybe if I didn't have

          5  breasts that wouldn't have happened to me. And then

          6  they also called EMS to take me to Metropolitan

          7  Hospital, where they admitted me without my consent

          8  to a psyche ward where I had to stay for five and a

          9  half months, because they felt that somehow I was

         10  the one who pretty much started that whole process.

         11                 And I have so much anger behind that

         12  and a lot of other issues that for a long time I

         13  stopped taking the hormones and things of that

         14  nature because I felt very paranoid, and it is very

         15  hard, even now I have to -- I didn't bring one

         16  today, but I always feel I have to carry a weapon

         17  with me to protect myself, for the simple fact that

         18  just because when people perceive me to be

         19  transgendered or whatever, they know that I am at

         20  risk of being attacked.

         21                 And, so, it is really important that

         22  the Council member really press the passing of this

         23  bill to specifically include transgendered people.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         25                 KIRRA ST. JAMES: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

          3  all.

          4                 I left one more visitor out, I missed

          5  the paper. Gary Parker. Gary, do you have a

          6  statement to read? Great.

          7                 GARY PARKER: My name is Gary Parker.

          8  I am a social worker and community liaison for

          9  Assembly Member Deborah Glick, who couldn't attend

         10  today, she had a family matter she needed to attend

         11  to in Rochester, but asked me to thank you for

         12  allowing me to read this statement on her behalf,

         13  which is as follows:

         14                 As the New York State Assembly Member

         15  representing the 66th District, which includes

         16  Tribecca, City Hall, Battery Park City, SoHo, and

         17  Greenwich Village, I would like to begin by

         18  commending the sponsors who have brought this

         19  important legislation forward.

         20                 Additionally, I appreciate the

         21  opportunity to address the General Welfare

         22  Committee. It was this Committee, under its present

         23  chair, Council Member DiBrienza, that fought to

         24  include gays and lesbians in the City's Human Rights

         25  law.
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          2                 I urge you to apply that same

          3  diligence in extending protection to members of the

          4  transgendered community.

          5                 Discrimination against the

          6  transgendered community exists in housing, the

          7  workplace and in public accommodations. Many people

          8  of transgender experience have supported being told

          9  they are not welcome in restaurants, educational

         10  institutions, hotels and health care facilities,

         11  merely because their gender identity does not

         12  correlate to their perceived sex.

         13                 New York City is widely recognized as

         14  the birth place of the gay liberation movement.

         15  Furthermore, it is a well documented fact that many

         16  of the participants during the stonewall riots were

         17  of transgendered experience. They were on the front

         18  lines at the inception of the liberation movement

         19  and recognition of their rights is long overdue.

         20                 Presently New York is far behind

         21  other major cities on this issue. Minneapolis has

         22  had a transgendered inclusive non-discrimination

         23  ordinance since 1975. Other cities, such as Seattle,

         24  San Francisco, Atlanta and Boulder among them have

         25  long recognized the importance of protecting the
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          2  transgendered citizens and have passed similar

          3  legislation. It is time for New York City to follow

          4  suit.

          5                 The New York City Law Department was

          6  asked whether the City's Human Rights law already

          7  protects transgendered people. The City's counsel

          8  stated in their response,"there are a number of

          9  indications supporting the conclusion that higher

         10  courts will find that transgendered people may

         11  assert claims of discrimination under the City law

         12  based on actual perceived gender."

         13                 This conclusion is based on the

         14  theory that the higher courts will adopt a broad

         15  understanding of the words gender and sex. To rest

         16  on this assumption could result in unnecessary,

         17  costly and time consuming litigation that could be

         18  prevented by enacting and adopting clear and concise

         19  language that is contained within Intro. 754.

         20                 In conclusion, members of the

         21  transgendered community have been long an integral

         22  of this great City, to date they have not received

         23  the same protections as all of its citizens, and I

         24  urge you to pass the Human Rights legislation that

         25  explicitly includes transgendered people.
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          2                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          4                 Syliva Rivera, Barbara Cassis, Adam

          5  Weinstein, Ariel Herrera.

          6                 Now, folks, we really want to hear

          7  from everyone, we are committed to hearing from

          8  everyone, but we need to --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Let me finish.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Oh.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: One second.

         13                 We need to ask you to follow the time

         14  guidelines so that we can get everyone's testimony

         15  on the record, okay?

         16                 So, you will hear the bell, if you

         17  are not done you will sum up.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Mr. Chairman, I

         19  just want to clarify for the benefit of you and the

         20  members of the City Council, Silvia Rivera is a hero

         21  in our community. She was there when the rebellion

         22  for the gay community began.

         23                 I just need to repeat this because

         24  the people here didn't hear. Acknowledging the role

         25  of Sylvia Rivera as a hero of our community, because
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          2  she was there when we began fighting for our rights

          3  in the gay, lesbian, transgender, bisexual

          4  community.

          5                 Thank you, Sylvia.

          6                 Attention to counsel, please.

          7                 MR. NEWMAN: Please raise your right

          8  hands.

          9                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

         10  the testimony you are about to give is the truth,

         11  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         12                 SYLVIA RIVERA: I do.

         13                 ARIEL HERRERA: I do.

         14                 ADAM WEINSTEIN: I do.

         15                 BARBARA CASSIS: I do.

         16                 MR. NEWMAN: Please state your name

         17  for the record.

         18                 BARBARA CASSIS: My name is Barbara

         19  Cassis, I am a Physical Director's Assistant at

         20  Positive Health Project. I also work as a peer

         21  counselor and group facilitator at the Gender

         22  Identity Project.

         23                 I was brutally raped and abducted and

         24  robbed a couple of years ago, and went to the

         25  police, like every other victim of a crime, directly
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          2  after this happened. So, my gender, you couldn't

          3  really distinguish what I was, because of the fact I

          4  was so beaten. The police were very sweet, very

          5  kind, they treated me very loving when they thought

          6  that I was female. Once they realized that I was

          7  transgendered, I was asked questions like, why do I

          8  dress that way? If I didn't dress this way, well,

          9  maybe this wouldn't have happened to you. That a man

         10  can't be raped. I could press charges for assault,

         11  they told me, for the abduction and the robbery, but

         12  not the rape.

         13                 I was treated so badly and so

         14  victimized again, after this just happened that I

         15  just walked out of the police station and I never

         16  got to feel the justice of having these people put

         17  in jail for what was done to me.

         18                 The bill needs to be passed. It needs

         19  to be passed because so many transgendered people

         20  don't have what I have. I have a loving family, I

         21  have very supportive people in my life, I have a

         22  group of friends that are very politically active,

         23  most of who are sitting in the front row, they are

         24  there to help me, but not all transgendered people

         25  have that. You know, they are denied education, they
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          2  are denied housing, they are denied jobs, they are

          3  denied just the common things that help you live

          4  your life every day, you know, so this really needs

          5  to be passed.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 ADAM WEINSTEIN: Good afternoon,

          8  Chairman DiBrienza and members of the Committee. I

          9  want to thank you for the opportunity to testify

         10  before you today. My name is Adam Weinstein, I am

         11  the Project Director of the West Side SRO Law

         12  Project.

         13                 As all of you are aware, for the last

         14  20 years, the City Council has supported the West

         15  Side SRO Law Project to protect some of the most

         16  vulnerable tenants in the City, and I am here to

         17  speak to you because transgendered tenants, what we

         18  have seen in our experience, our some of the most

         19  vulnerable tenants in the City.

         20                 Most of our transgendered clients are

         21  harassed in the buildings in which they live. SRO

         22  buildings have front desks and most of our

         23  transgendered clients report being verbally abused

         24  by one or more members of the front desk staff. For

         25  these tenants this means enduring discrimination one
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          2  or two times a day, it means starting the morning

          3  off and ending the evening of a verbal tirade of

          4  insults.

          5                 In addition, transgendered tenants

          6  that try to exercise their housing rights, tend to

          7  be targeted in a way that attacks their gender

          8  identity. I have represented three tenant groups

          9  that have brought HP actions that included

         10  transgendered tenants, and in each case the

         11  transgendered tenant was singled out by the landlord

         12  for retaliation.

         13                 In two instances that meant that the

         14  landlord just started to continually call the police

         15  and try to have these tenants arrested on false

         16  charges.

         17                 Transgendered tenants clearly face

         18  the kind of discrimination the Human Rights law

         19  seeks to remedy. If a gay tenant comes into my

         20  office, or a lesbian tenant comes into my office, if

         21  an African American tenant comes into my office, I

         22  can tell them clearly that if we can prove the case

         23  of discrimination, that they are going to win, and I

         24  can't tell that to a transgendered tenant right now.

         25  I can say there are some arguments we can make,
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          2  there are some things we can try to do, but you may

          3  have to go through the very emotionally draining

          4  process of bringing a human rights claim and you may

          5  not win, and transgendered tenants deserve to know

          6  that they can win in this situation.

          7                 Finally, as the project director of a

          8  very small office, with a large mandate and not a

          9  whole lot of resources, I would rather not spend my

         10  time litigating this issue.

         11                 I mean, this is an issue that we

         12  could litigate, that we could take up to the Court

         13  of Appeals, we have a limited amount of funds, we

         14  have a very large mandate, and I would like to know

         15  that we can win if we bring a case.

         16                 And just finally, on a personal note,

         17  I represented Amanda Milan (phonetic), who most of

         18  you know was murdered in front of the Port Authority

         19  last year in a housing case that she had with her

         20  landlord, and we were actually in the middle of that

         21  case when she was murdered. In most of my

         22  conversations with Ms. Milan she talked about how

         23  difficult it was for her to get a job and how

         24  difficult it was for her to get housing, and she was

         25  a strong woman, she was a bright woman, she was an

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            145

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  intelligent woman, she would have made a great

          3  employee, she would have made a great tenant, and

          4  she didn't have that chance, and this bill will give

          5  transgendered people the chance that she didn't

          6  have, and I please ask for your support.

          7                 ARIEL HERRERA: My name is Ariel

          8  Herrera. I am the Field Organizer and Membership

          9  Coordinator for Out Front Amnesty International's

         10  program on Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgendered

         11  Human Rights.

         12                 Vanessa Lorena Ledesma, an HIV

         13  positive transgender activist, was arrested

         14  following a fight at a local bar and detained by the

         15  police. Five days later, she was dead. The police

         16  report said she died of cardiac arrest. The autopsy

         17  report revealed strong evidence of torture.

         18                 Astrid LaFontaine and Beverly Lineth,

         19  two transgendered sex workers and activists, were

         20  brutally murdered. Astrid was shot down while she

         21  was doing AIDS prevention work. Beverly was beaten

         22  to death by three men who, earlier, have been seen

         23  going around in a car harassing and attacking

         24  transvestites.

         25                 Amanda Milan, a 25-year-old aspiring
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          2  fashion designer, who dreamed of some day being able

          3  to afford sex reassignment surgery, was stabbed in

          4  the throat by a man who yelled at her, "I know

          5  that's a dick you have between your legs."

          6  Eyewitnesses said that taxicab drivers nearby

          7  cheered and applauded as Amanda bled to death on the

          8  sidewalk.

          9                 The persecution of transgendered

         10  people is a pervasive and global human rights

         11  problem. These acts of violence happened in

         12  Argentina, Guatemala, and right here in the United

         13  States. They are but a few examples of horrendous

         14  abuses perpetrated against transgendered people

         15  around the world.

         16                 In this country and throughout the

         17  world, transgendered people, especially

         18  transgendered activists, are often the first to be

         19  targeted for ill treatment and acts of violence.

         20                 In the past year alone Amnesty

         21  International has documented numerous cases of

         22  harassment, extortions, beatings, sexual assault,

         23  unlawful detentions and murders of transgendered

         24  people. Transgendered people suffer abuses inflicted

         25  not only by police and other State agents, but even
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          2  more often by ordinary citizens who act with the

          3  complicity and acquiescence of government

          4  authorities.

          5                 In an upcoming special report,

          6  Amnesty International documents how identity-based

          7  discrimination makes lesbian, gay, bisexual and

          8  transgendered or LGBT people more vulnerable to

          9  torture and violence, whether in police or prison

         10  custody, in the streets or at home.

         11                 The lack of legal protections from

         12  discrimination and the existence of criminal

         13  statutes that prohibit same sex relations, help

         14  perpetuate a culture of impugnity, where LGBT people

         15  are considered and treated as less than human and

         16  more vulnerable to abuse and violence.

         17                 Transgendered people are especially

         18  vulnerable because of the pervasive social and

         19  economic marginalization they endure. Forced to live

         20  in the fringes (sic) of society, with little or no

         21  means of economic support, many live under

         22  conditions that make them easy targets for abuse and

         23  acts of violence.

         24                 Intro. 754, which seeks to amend New

         25  York City's Human Rights ordinance to add gender
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          2  identity and expression, mandates that transgendered

          3  people be afforded the same protection from

          4  discrimination as all other New York City residents

          5  in the very basic areas of life, housing, employment

          6  and public accommodations.

          7                 The inclusion of gender identity and

          8  expression makes the legal protection explicit and

          9  indisputable. Intro. 754 opposed the equal rights of

         10  transgender and gender-variant people as defined in

         11  the universal declaration of human rights, and other

         12  international human rights conventions.

         13                 Dear City Council members, today you

         14  have an opportunity to make great, richly diverse

         15  and multicultural city, an example to the rest of

         16  the world.

         17                 I urge you to support initiative 754

         18  and uphold basic human rights of all New York City

         19  citizens.

         20                 SYLVIA RIVERA: My name is Sylvia

         21  Rivera. I am co-founder of Street Transgender Action

         22  Revolutionaries.

         23                 I have been on these streets of New

         24  York since the age of ten, where is this system? We

         25  have children out there that are transgendered that
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          2  are of the same age as I was when I first came out.

          3  You let these children fall through the cracks of

          4  your system by completely ignoring them. We lose

          5  people like Amanda Milan and many, many other

          6  transgendered women through the streets of New York

          7  because of a lack of interest in the government here

          8  in New York.

          9                 We must pass this bill. We have

         10  suffered long enough. We have freed the gays and the

         11  lesbian community. We were your foremothers of the

         12  gay liberation movement. You threw us down the river

         13  in 1974 when the Government officials that sat in

         14  this very room made a backroom deal to take the

         15  cross-dressing clause out of the gay rights, civil

         16  rights bill. Here we die in the streets, our

         17  children are not getting educated, our parents do

         18  not love us. They throw us into the streets. We have

         19  parents that consider themselves Christians that

         20  deliver their children to New York because they are

         21  transgendered men or women, and what do they give

         22  them? A death sentence on the streets of New York,

         23  because no one can ever walk in the shows of my

         24  brothers and sisters of this transgendered

         25  community.
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          2                 I am begging the Council and all

          3  involved, please hear our voices. We are tired of

          4  waiting. Give us our freedom and break the chain.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Kerri Mesner.

          6  Is there a Kerri Mesner here?

          7                 Theresa Ellison. Joann Prinzivalli.

          8  Helena Stone.

          9                 Just listen for your name, please.

         10                 Madeline Blaustein. Just raise your

         11  hand, you don't have to come up. Thank you. You can

         12  stay.

         13                 Jillian Weiss. Raas Na'Shantee.

         14  Scout. Melanie Spritz. Alexandra MacKenzie. Lancoria

         15  Lucas. Julia Murray. Rusty Mae Moore. Gloria

         16  Galicki. Lyn Josslyn Rawles. Helin Collins. Julia

         17  Porfido. Diana Montford. Erica Porter. Holly

         18  Daggers. Laverne Cox.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Mr. Chairman,

         20  approximately how many?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: We are going

         22  to take a ten-second break.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes, just so

         24  we can get an idea of how much --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Recess.
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          2                 (Recess taken.)

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Everybody has

          4  to really try to cooperate with the time so we can

          5  hear you all. We don't want to run out of time. We

          6  want to hear everyone. Everyone has to cooperate as

          7  best you can. I appreciate that. Okay.

          8                 MR. NEWMAN: Are the other people that

          9  we called still in the room? Is everybody here? And

         10  there was a fourth here, right? Okay.

         11                 Please raise your right hands. Do you

         12  solemnly swear or affirm that the testimony you are

         13  about to give is the truth, the whole truth and

         14  nothing but the truth?

         15                 KERRI MESNER: I do.

         16                 HELENA STONE: I do.

         17                 JOANN PRINZIVALLI: I do.

         18                 TERESA ELLISON: I do.

         19                 MR. NEWMAN: Okay, the first person

         20  can start.

         21                 KERRI MESNER: Good afternoon.

         22                 My name is Kerri Mesner, and I am a

         23  candidate for the Ordane Ministry with Metropolitan

         24  Community Church of New York, a church of the

         25  lesbian, gay, bisexual, transexual and transgender
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          2  community, open to all.

          3                 I don't think there is any debate to

          4  be had as to whether or not the bill should pass.

          5  Quite simply, as a person of faith who believes that

          6  each and every one of us is Gods beloved child, I

          7  can't see how our City can exclude a significant

          8  portion of its population by not providing basic

          9  protection and safety for their human and civil

         10  rights.

         11                 We are not talking here about special

         12  rights, and I think that is a well over-worn

         13  euphemism that some people would employ under the

         14  guise of equality, when in fact what they are asking

         15  for is the discounting of an entire group of people.

         16                 We are talking about basic assets to

         17  basic human rights. Housing, employment, services,

         18  and all of the things that every citizen of this

         19  City is supposedly entitled to. We are talking about

         20  the ability to walk down the streets of New York

         21  City and to know that you are safe and that the

         22  police are your protectors, not harassers.

         23                 As the facilitator of a spiritual

         24  group for people of varying transgender experiences,

         25  I know people who are fired from their jobs because
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          2  of their dress, their demeanor, their gender

          3  identities. I know young adults who are forced to

          4  work on the streets because they have been disowned

          5  by their families and our school systems are so

          6  utterly unsafe for them. The choice that we take for

          7  granted are not even an option for a person of

          8  variant gendered experiences.

          9                 As an individual who also identifies

         10  as part of the transgender community, I have

         11  experienced harassment and abuse because of my

         12  gender experience. I consider myself lucky in that

         13  what I have experienced is a fraction of what many

         14  of the people in this room live with on a daily

         15  basis. Most of us here can't know what it is like to

         16  live daily with the level of persecution, abuse and

         17  violence that our transgender siblings live with.

         18  What we can do, though, is begin to eradicate that

         19  violence with the passing of this bill.

         20                 Regardless of politics, as a person

         21  of faith I have to believe that God calls each of us

         22  to make sure that each and every one of God's people

         23  are taken care of, that spells a step towards that

         24  justice. Thank you.

         25                 MR. NEWMAN: Next.
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          2                 TERESA ELLISON: Hi. My name is

          3  legally Teresa Ellison. I am talking about my

          4  experience in trying to find a job as a transgender

          5  woman.

          6                 I don't have a mental problem as a

          7  transgender woman, and as we heard earlier in

          8  regards about your name change or anything dealing

          9  with trying to get your name changed or anything

         10  dealing with the transgender. Yes, you do have to

         11  see a psychiatrist, and the psychiatrist have to

         12  give that affidavit stating that you are a

         13  sound-mind person.

         14                 Like I was saying, I am going to be

         15  speaking on behalf of the job interviews that I have

         16  been through.

         17                 I represent Staten Island. I am a

         18  peer educator and a PWA, and I live in Staten

         19  Island. And also, I am with the Staten Island AIDS

         20  Task Force and with Project Hospitality, which is

         21  the two organizations that I am with on Staten

         22  Island.

         23                 As I was saying before, dealing with

         24  my experience with trying to find a job, it's very

         25  hard to do, because they claim that their clients,
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          2  because the job that I went for was with security,

          3  and they were saying that their clients does not

          4  accept as a transgender, they don't want a

          5  transgender, and basically that's what I am speaking

          6  on.

          7                 In the affidavit, in my testimony I

          8  wrote down the different agencies and where they are

          9  located at. They are basically in Manhattan. Like I

         10  said, it is hard to find a J-O-B.

         11                 That's why I said housing, I didn't

         12  have no problem with that. My landlord is

         13  transgender-friendly and also gay-friend. But

         14  basically what I had a problem with was getting my

         15  name changed, which wasn't too hard, and trying to

         16  find a job as a transgendered woman is very hard to

         17  do, because they look at you different and strange.

         18                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you.

         19                 TERESA ELLISON: That's why I'm here.

         20                 MR. NEWMAN: Next witness.

         21                 JOANN PRINZIVALLI: Hello, Mr.

         22  Chairman, Council Members, citizens and friends.

         23  Good afternoon.

         24                 My name is Joann Prinzivalli, and I

         25  happen to be a woman of transgender experience, a
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          2  lawyer. As a lawyer I have been general counsel to a

          3  thrift institution, and chief underwriting counsel

          4  for a New York City-based title insurance company.

          5                 Because I was a transitioning

          6  preoperative transexual, I lost that chief

          7  underwriting counsel position, and in my written

          8  testimony that I am going to be passing on to you, I

          9  go into a bit more of that, but I appreciate the

         10  time constraints.

         11                 Now, once I lost my job I found it

         12  was impossible to obtain another position in the

         13  title insurance industry, despite my great

         14  qualifications and excellent reputation.

         15                 Doors that I know would otherwise

         16  have been open to me have been shut tight because of

         17  an immutable characteristic. The only work I have

         18  been able to obtain since losing my job has been

         19  through a temp agency.

         20                 Now, that's just about me, there are

         21  a few points I want to make about Intro. 754. First,

         22  engaging in commercial activity is a privilege which

         23  the law already recognizes can be regulated as a

         24  matter of fundamental fairness, to prohibit

         25  discrimination based on non-job-related immutable
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          2  characteristics. The same goes for public

          3  accommodations, housing, extension and extension of

          4  credit.

          5                 The second, the proposed amendment is

          6  necessary, including gender identity expression as a

          7  protected class will make it absolutely clear that

          8  transgendered people are covered under the human

          9  rights law, as opposed to the vagueness that we

         10  have.

         11                 I just want to make a couple of side

         12  comments about, the thing is, you know, one thing

         13  the Corporation Counsel should be asked, if coverage

         14  already exists, why is there no reasonable

         15  accommodation for transgender women in the City's

         16  own shelter system? Actions speak louder than words.

         17                 And how about other City services?

         18  Again, actions speak louder than words.

         19                 When the Commissioner was talking

         20  about the cases, the Maffei case, for instance, the

         21  Court in Maffei, when you review that, the Court was

         22  confused about the reason why the word sex was

         23  changed to gender, it had nothing to do with the

         24  decision. And I will stop there. Thank you.

         25                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you.
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          2                 Next witness.

          3                 HELENA STONE: Yes, my name is Helena

          4  Stone, and I have been a victim of abuse and

          5  violence and discrimination since I was a young

          6  child when I was first called "Henrietta" by the

          7  children and then raped at ten.

          8                 I presently am having a problem with

          9  my landlord, or neighbors discriminating against me,

         10  telling all my neighbors that I wear panties, and I

         11  used to get along very good with the landlord and

         12  now she is threatening to evict me. She does not

         13  give me a parking space, and this fellow that is

         14  harassing me has two of them, and she just recently

         15  told me that if I don't like it, I can move.

         16                 Now, I also resent the fact that I am

         17  listed as disabled for being of the transgender

         18  experience. I have accomplished a lot of things in

         19  my life, I have got degrees at night, I have worked

         20  at Verizon Communications for 33 years, I am a

         21  Vietnam Veteran, I am a senior citizen, I have

         22  worked for the last 55 years in this City, and now I

         23  am afraid I am going to be evicted and I don't know

         24  where I will go.

         25                 I had to leave Manhattan because the
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          2  building I lived in became a drug-addicted building.

          3  I had to move to Queens. For three years I had a

          4  great relationship with the landlord, and now

          5  because I have a party, a bar-be-que once a year and

          6  I invite transgendered people, among everyone, I

          7  have had problems with the landlord.

          8                 Right now one of my cats might still

          9  be locked in her garage. It mysteriously got locked

         10  in there yesterday, and I called her last night and

         11  she said she would be there early this morning. I

         12  left about 10:30 and the cat was still in there. He

         13  hasn't had anything to eat or drink for a day and a

         14  half, because he mysteriously got locked in her

         15  garage. And right now, I mean after all of the

         16  things I have accomplished in life, at 66 I am

         17  afraid that I am going to be evicted, that I won't

         18  have anywhere to go. I have a large library and a

         19  large record collection, and I don't know where I

         20  will go if I am put out in the street.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just want a

         24  clarification.

         25                 From Ms. Prinzivalli. When you speak
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          2  about personable accommodation, can you give me an

          3  example in which you understand that the City

          4  doesn't provide for the transgender community in

          5  that arena?

          6                 JOANN PRINZIVALLI: As far as the

          7  accommodations in the City Homeless shelters? Well,

          8  transgendered women are routinely put in with the

          9  men, and, you know, I can understand concern if a

         10  preoperative transexual be put in with the women's

         11  population, because there needs to be a reasonable

         12  accommodation in terms of possibly a separate

         13  accommodation.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then if it is

         15  true that the transgender community would be covered

         16  under this existing law, that would exist

         17  automatically.

         18                 JOANN PRINZIVALLI: And my

         19  understanding is that it should, if we are covered,

         20  then we should be covered in terms of City services,

         21  as well.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: What other

         23  example you can give about that, that comes to your

         24  mind?

         25                 JOANN PRINZIVALLI: Well, not from
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          2  personal experience, only in terms of what I

          3  understand.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am not

          5  talking about personal experience, I am talking

          6  about what you understand. If you can give me

          7  another example, besides the shelter system.

          8                 JOANN PRINZIVALLI: Well, in terms of

          9  the emergency medical care. Barbra Ann Perina

         10  testified about that, for instance, how she was

         11  treated. Other people have been treated badly by the

         12  police.

         13                 You know, one of the things the

         14  police giving out misinformation, when they talk

         15  about rape, you know, there are sexual assault

         16  things that do apply to everyone, and the police

         17  were, oh, no, you weren't raped. Well, I know that

         18  the law specifically refers to the rape involving a

         19  woman. But the whole thing is is that the police

         20  giving out misinformation, there are other types of

         21  things that the complaint could have been made on.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, I thank

         23  you. And any one of you has filed any complaint ever

         24  under the Human Right Commission's law that exists

         25  today?
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          2                 TERESA ELLISON: This is my first time

          3  ever hearing about that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

          5                 KERRI MESNER: I got close. I got a

          6  settlement.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, thank

          8  you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Could the

         10  person who just testified about living in Queens

         11  about the fear of losing your home, would you just

         12  tell us your name again? Because we don't want you

         13  to lose your home, and certainly there must be

         14  something that somebody can do. Tell us your name

         15  and give us the phone number, all right?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Let's put the

         17  law to the test, right? If it covers you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: While we are

         19  taking that, if the next folks can come up.

         20                 Madeline Blaustein, Jillian Weiss,

         21  Raas Na'Shantee and Scout.

         22                 MR. NEWMAN: Who is not up here?

         23  Madeline Blaustein, are you here?

         24                 MADELINE BLAUSTEIN: I am right here.

         25                 MR. NEWMAN:  Jillian Weiss?
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          2                 JILLIAN WEISS: Here.

          3                 MR. NEWMAN: Raas Na'Shantee? I saw

          4  her here before.

          5                 Okay, please raise your right hands.

          6                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

          7  testimony you are about to give is the truth, the

          8  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          9                 MADELINE BLAUSTEIN: I do.

         10                 JILLIAN WEISS: I do.

         11                 SCOUT: I do.

         12                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you.

         13                 The first person can start.

         14                 JILLIAN WEISS: My name is Jillian

         15  Weiss. I live in Brooklyn, and I thank you for this

         16  opportunity. I am an attorney, I am a Ph.D

         17  candidate, and I am a quiet law-abiding citizen, but

         18  the fact that I am transgender has to be kept

         19  hidden, because the prejudice among transgendered

         20  people means that people laugh, they refuse service,

         21  they're contemptuous, they assume I am mentally ill

         22  or promiscuous or a prostitute or a generally

         23  undesirable neighbor.

         24                 I can't point to any law on the books

         25  that specifically and explicitly covers me, so who
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          2  is to say that they are wrong?

          3                 I need something to point to. Where

          4  is the system, as Sylvia Rivera said?

          5                 The Commissioner said that they can

          6  claim protection. Well, anybody can claim anything,

          7  I can't necessarily get it. She said gender is

          8  substituted for sex, but the courts have routinely

          9  said that the discrimination on the basis of sex or

         10  gender does not protect because of changing sex or

         11  gender, those are two different things, according to

         12  courts, such as Ulane (phonetic) and other courts

         13  that are mentioned in my article, which I passed out

         14  to you.

         15                 The Commissioner implied that

         16  reference to gender rather than sex without further

         17  definition is sufficient, but that only guarantees

         18  me an expensive, long and emotionally draining

         19  lawsuit because of the very vagueness of that law.

         20                 Also, an employer has a right to

         21  regulate dress codes, so without 754, the

         22  transgender plaintiff must lose. So, guess why they

         23  get so few claimants? Where is the system?

         24                 In the article that I passed out to

         25  you, which I request be incorporated, I note that
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          2  this is akin to a cast system that doesn't match our

          3  American beliefs, that we believe these truths to be

          4  self-evident, that all people are created equal,

          5  that there are certain inalieable rights, that among

          6  these are life, liberty and the pursuit of

          7  happiness.

          8                 Please protect me by voting for 754.

          9                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you.

         10                 The next witness, please.

         11                 MADELEINE BLAUSTEIN: Hi. My name is

         12  Madeleine Blaustein. I am a native New Yorker. I

         13  would like to thank the Committee for this

         14  opportunity to speak, and I would like to say first

         15  and foremost, that as a native New Yorker, I would

         16  like to assert my right to declare that I am a woman

         17  and not necessarily gender dysphoric, I would leave

         18  that to the doctors and society, in general, to

         19  decide if they wanted to.

         20                 Having said that, I would also like

         21  to say that I am quote/unquote one of the lucky

         22  ones. Currently I am gainfully employed, and in fact

         23  employed in a field where I am in the public eye. I

         24  would love to share where I am in the public eye

         25  with the Committee and with my transgendered
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          2  brothers and sisters here, but, unfortunately, I

          3  can't, and the reason I can't is I don't know

          4  whether or not I am protected under the law of New

          5  York City.

          6                 I have worked a long time at this.

          7  Since '91 when I came out, I have gone out, this is

          8  now my third transition from a role perceived as

          9  male to a role perceived as female. This is the

         10  first time it has become what I would term

         11  successful. The first two times, again, in the

         12  public eye, working for a comic book company which

         13  professed to be multi-cultural and in fact had a

         14  mission statement that adhered closely to New York

         15  City law regarding non-discrimination, I was not

         16  included as somebody of gender-variant nature. To

         17  that end, I was told if I wanted to continue working

         18  there I would have to wear socks, in a comic book

         19  company where people regularly showed up wearing

         20  shorts and sandals, male or female, I was pointedly

         21  told I had to adhere to a strict male dress code.

         22                 Upon coming out in print, I lost my

         23  role as a manager, and subsequently I lost my job,

         24  not so much by firing but by trickling down. Again,

         25  now I am gainfully employed as a voice actress on

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            167

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  the most popular national syndicated children's

          3  cartoon, which I cannot tell you what it is, because

          4  I don't want to lose that job, and, frankly, just to

          5  gather my thoughts, it pains me that that is the

          6  case. It pains me that at the time when I am most

          7  successful, I cannot enjoy that success just for the

          8  reason of being transgendered.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you.

         11                 SCOUT: My name is Scout. I am a Ph.D

         12  candidate at Columbia University. I am also one of

         13  the elected members of the organizing Committee for

         14  the National Coalition on LGBT Health.

         15                 In reviewing some of the national

         16  needs assessments on the health status of

         17  trangendered people, there are some alarming

         18  statistics that come out of them, including up to 48

         19  percent unemployment, the 65 percent uninsured, up

         20  to 80 percent reporting sex work, up to 35 percent

         21  reporting being HIV positive, up to 39 percent of

         22  the trangendered people reporting having attempted

         23  suicide some time in the past.

         24                 Anybody who has a rudimentary

         25  knowledge of public health understands that these
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          2  indicators, the extreme adverse health indicators,

          3  are usually hallmarks of very extreme poverty.

          4  Transgendered people are experiencing not just

          5  social but pervasive economic discrimination, which

          6  is changing their lives and affecting New York City

          7  as well.

          8                 No one wants to grow up being a sex

          9  worker. People are forced to grow up and become sex

         10  workers, because without protection and routine

         11  employment channels, we are forced to work outside

         12  and around them. And this is probably only

         13  scratching the surface. While I may not fall in some

         14  of these more extreme categories, nonetheless, I

         15  have been fired from my job, I have been attacked, I

         16  have had death threats, I was chased out of a town

         17  in Iowa.

         18                 I would not ever be surprised if

         19  someone were to tell me that my obituary read that I

         20  died a violent death. We all know that the strength

         21  of the laws is not in the courts. I think the

         22  arguments from the general counsel are feeble. We

         23  know they are feeble. If we hide behind them, it is

         24  a sham excuse to continue allowing this

         25  discrimination to happen. The strength of the law is
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          2  in proclaiming what is socially unacceptable

          3  behavior.

          4                 I know that the current law does

          5  nothing to proclaim the discrimination against

          6  transgender people is socially unacceptable. This is

          7  why we must make it more specific. It is very

          8  simple.

          9                 I ask you, if not on behalf of

         10  myself, if not on behalf of the other people in this

         11  room, please, on the behalf of my three children,

         12  who right now don't think it is a problem that they

         13  call a female "daddy," please don't let them grow up

         14  into an environment that they are allowed to be told

         15  that it is a problem and that's even legally

         16  sanctioned.

         17                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you.

         18                 Melanie Spritz.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: While we are

         20  calling forward the next panel, let me, Mr. Chair,

         21  suggest the following.

         22                 We have heard more than once concern

         23  about being victimized as a result of testifying, so

         24  in those cases that we have heard about, as well as

         25  for future cases, we would ask that you make sure
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          2  before you leave that you communicate with our

          3  counsel so we can assure you that you will be

          4  protected by this Committee and by this Council,

          5  that you will not be alone by virtue because you

          6  have told the truth about the situation.

          7                 Thank you very much.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: What we need to

          9  make sure is that we know your name, in case that

         10  something happens to you.

         11                 MADELEINE BLAUSTEIN: My name is

         12  Madeleine Blaustein.

         13                 MR. NEWMAN: Melanie Spritz. Alexandra

         14  Mackenzie. Lencoria Lucas. Rusty Mae Moore.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just want to

         16  say for the record, and for the knowledge of

         17  everyone who is seated in that chair, that these

         18  proceedings are televised, and the television is

         19  there, and if you are concerned about their

         20  identity, you need to be aware that these procedures

         21  are on television.

         22                 We don't want for you to think that

         23  we are setting you up in any way, but if something

         24  be done readily against you, please contact our

         25  office, in base of this testimony that you presented
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          2  today.

          3                 MR. NEWMAN: Please raise your right

          4  hands.

          5                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

          6  testimony you are about to give is the truth, the

          7  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          8                 RUSTY MAE MOORE: I do.

          9                 MELANIE SPRITZ: I do.

         10                 ALEXANDRA MACKENZIE: I do.

         11                 LENCORIA LUCAS: I do.

         12                 MR. NEWMAN: Will the first person

         13  please begin?

         14                 DR. MELANIE SPRITZ: Hi. My name is

         15  Melanie Spritz. I am a physician who is both an

         16  internist and a psychiatrist, a member of the

         17  American Psychiatric Association, the American

         18  Medical Association, as well as the Harry Benjamin

         19  International Gender Dysphoria Association.

         20                 Before I was going to speak to you

         21  about my own problems being a physician, because

         22  they are really no different than any other person,

         23  however, I think I better clarify what is written in

         24  the DSM-IV, what is actually going on in the world

         25  of psychiatry and psychoanalysis.
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          2                 I have enclosed in my own thing a

          3  letter to the editor written to the International

          4  Journal of Psychoanalysis, a conservative journal,

          5  right now they are willing to accept discussion and

          6  disagreement. There are varying theorists in terms

          7  of psychoanalysis, Jessica Benjamin, Judith Butler

          8  and Nancy Chadero who brought the question of gender

          9  over for about ten years.

         10                 I have been one of many presenters in

         11  the American Psychiatric Association, and I will be

         12  a presenter actually in this coming October at the

         13  Institute for Psychiatric Services.

         14                 In the upcoming main convention which

         15  is happening next week, there are no less than five

         16  pro trans symposiums or workshops which are being

         17  taken place.

         18                 I, myself, am actually on the short

         19  list to be on the next committee to be formed for

         20  gender identity disorder.

         21                 The original formation of it was

         22  actually to protect patients as a suspect class,

         23  instead of being used against them as it has.

         24                 Currently, the way things generally

         25  look, it will probably be put into the appendix of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            173

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  the DSM-V, much like premenstrual disorder, or it

          3  will be put as a V code, much like pregnancy in the

          4  DSM-V to come.

          5                 In the subsequent addition, or the

          6  revision of the DSM-V, it will probably be

          7  eliminated. I am talking about a time of a decade or

          8  maybe 12 years at the most.

          9                 This is what I know from being in

         10  those committees, being out of the closet and

         11  practicing.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you.

         14                 Next witness.

         15                 LENCORIA LUCAS: Hello. Good

         16  afternoon. My name is Lencoria Lucas, and I am

         17  currently homeless, I have been homeless for quite

         18  awhile, and my biggest gripe is, as a black American

         19  transgender person I was discriminated against by

         20  going to a public restaurant, and I wanted to have a

         21  meal, breakfast, which I offered to pay for myself,

         22  and I was turned away by the provider of this thing.

         23  And he told me if I did not leave he would call the

         24  police. So, I patiently waited for the police to

         25  come, and the police came, and do you know what they

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            174

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  told me? They told me I had no right. They told me I

          3  couldn't go in this man's restaurant, even though I

          4  was paying for this meal, and, you know, that is

          5  something that disturbed me. And I asked them if I

          6  could file a complaint, and they said no.

          7                 So, where are my rights as a human

          8  being, as a black American? Where are my rights?

          9                 Please pass this bill. This is what I

         10  want. Pass this bill.

         11                 And I have another thing. There is a

         12  public restroom, which is one of the great parks of

         13  this City, Washington Square Park, I am being

         14  discriminated against of going in there as a female.

         15  And I wish that not to continue. I don't know why,

         16  but I have sat there and watched other transgender

         17  people try to go into this ladies room, and we were

         18  all turned away.

         19                 So, please, if passing this bill does

         20  anything, that will help make some people's lives a

         21  lot easier.

         22                 But I mean, to deny somebody

         23  breakfast for $4.25, that is really, really, really

         24  unacceptable to me.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I think that

          3  is unacceptable to all of us.

          4                 You're homeless, does that mean that

          5  you ever go to a shelter?

          6                 LENCORIA LUCAS: I have been raped and

          7  attacked in shelters. Yes, I have.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And what

          9  shelters did you go to?

         10                 LENCORIA LUCAS: I went to Wards

         11  Island.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Was that a

         13  men's shelter?

         14                 LENCORIA LUCAS: It was a men's

         15  shelter, yes.

         16                 And there were gang members in there,

         17  and I almost got my throat cut because I had a

         18  silver chain on my neck and with a cross on it, and

         19  during the process of the person ripping it off I

         20  got my throat scratched.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         22                 LENCORIA LUCAS: You are quite

         23  welcome.

         24                 MR. NEWMAN: Next witness.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: What part of
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          2  the shelter you were allocated in there, in the male

          3  or the female?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Male.

          5                 LENCORIA LUCAS: It was a male

          6  shelter.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

          8                 MR. NEWMAN: Next witness, please.

          9                 LENCORIA LUCAS: I didn't even know

         10  they had a female shelter.

         11                 ALEXANDRA MACKENZIE: Good afternoon.

         12  My name is Alexandra MacKenzie, and one of the

         13  reasons I came here is because I feel I am not

         14  completely covered by the current laws.

         15                 I am a heterosexual male

         16  cross-dresser. I don't feel I am covered by the laws

         17  because for one thing, I am not a homosexual, so I

         18  am not covered by anything that covers gay or

         19  lesbians, and I am not a transexual in any sense of

         20  the way, I am not looking to change my sex, I am not

         21  looking to take hormones, I just like to dress up in

         22  women's clothes and enjoy it.

         23                 Most of my life I have been secretive

         24  about this, and indeed most cross-dressers are

         25  highly secretive, and one of my other concerns is we
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          2  perhaps may be underrepresented here because so many

          3  of us stay home and are afraid to come out to things

          4  like this.

          5                 I spent most of my career in the

          6  financial services industry, and for most of the

          7  time -- I was once, it was complained I wore a tie

          8  that had flowers on it, and it was complained a

          9  flowered tie was improper in the financial services

         10  industry, so I don't know how they would have

         11  reacted to me if I had come to work in a dress.

         12                 But I was also at one point, I was in

         13  a company that got merged, and apparently someone

         14  had seen me buying clothes in Macy's and told my

         15  boss he is probably a transvestite, and when the

         16  layoffs came I was given an offer to buy out, you

         17  know, they gave me -- so I took the offer and left

         18  because it was easier than fighting it.

         19                 You know, I also stayed for about 15

         20  years in a very unhappy marriage because I was

         21  afraid of what would happen if it got to court. I

         22  would lose my sons, I wouldn't be able to see them

         23  again. I would lose my house, my car and my cats, my

         24  dog, you know, and at some point you need some kind

         25  of knowledge that you are protected and your rights
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          2  are protected, and even though you are different or

          3  a little odd, you are still respected as a decent

          4  person.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 RUSTY MOORE: Good afternoon. My name

          7  is Rusty Moore. I am a Professor at Hoffstra

          8  University International Business, and former

          9  chairperson of the Metropolitan Gender Network, a

         10  woman of transexual experience, and I want to speak

         11  today in terms of my role as sort of, I guess you

         12  would say mother of Transy House, which is a

         13  collective of transgendered people in Brooklyn. It

         14  is kind of a self-help project where we are trying

         15  to (applause) -- we are trying to inspire by Sylvia

         16  Rivera's Star House, which existed in the 1970s,

         17  provide a family environment to try to deal with the

         18  homeless problem and in general the transition

         19  problem for younger transgendered people.

         20                 I could attest to a lot of the horror

         21  stories that I have heard over the years because I

         22  am usually one of the ones that listens to all of

         23  the stories and tries to be in something of a

         24  parental role, but basically we are totally

         25  overwhelmed, people are calling constantly asking
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          2  for a place to live because they are homeless, and

          3  we have no place to go. We just have a private house

          4  and it is chock full of people.

          5                 When we got here today, the first

          6  thing that happened was Pauline Park asked if we

          7  could take somebody into the house, so I don't know

          8  how we will deal with that this evening. We have a

          9  tremendous problem.

         10                 Last night I was watching television

         11  with my children, When Peter Vallone, Council

         12  Speaker, came on and said that these hearings were

         13  being conducted purely to explain to the Human

         14  Rights Commission that we are covered under the

         15  present law. And I really would like to help

         16  coordinate the educational efforts we are all doing

         17  for Mr. Vallone and others in New York City saying

         18  that there is -- we are not covered, no matter what

         19  people say, and please put us under that coverage

         20  because it will make a tremendous difference to all

         21  of the people in this community.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: That's the

         23  first I heard of the broadcast last night, and I

         24  don't think it is the intention of those of us on

         25  this Committee that this is simply a hearing to say
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          2  that the current existing Human Rights Law covers

          3  this community that we are talking about today. It

          4  is our intention to amend that law and I certainly

          5  think that we will diligently pursue that, at least

          6  I certainly will.

          7                 For me, I have been very quiet, and I

          8  am not usually that quiet, but I have been around

          9  for a long time, and I worked at City Hall in 1970 I

         10  think, starting in January or December of '69, right

         11  after Stonewall with John Lindsay, and I was the

         12  first liaison with the gay and lesbian community,

         13  and learned much and helped shepard through the

         14  first Executive Order, and that was a very

         15  empowering time for people, and of course I have

         16  been a survivor of the Civil Rights Movement, and

         17  the Peace Movement and the Women's Movement. This is

         18  a very exciting day because I see a community that

         19  has reached the point of, it's a peaceful

         20  resolution, but I am thrilled that so many people

         21  have been here and so many people are testifying,

         22  and raising our knowledge of what it is like and

         23  what you need, and I think this is just a most

         24  momentous occasion, and I certainly pledge that my

         25  remaining seven months on this body, eight months in
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          2  this body, one of the items that will be top on my

          3  agenda is that this bill comes out of this

          4  Committee, and that this Council, which already has

          5  a majority of its members as sponsors passes this

          6  law, makes it a law.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: On my part I

          9  want to clarify categorically here, I did not hear

         10  the statement that you said. I am not going to

         11  question the validity of what you are saying, but I

         12  am going to tell you that I am not going to stop to

         13  try to make this bill pass, and I am committing

         14  publicly myself here right now to tell you, and to

         15  tell everyone, that I will even go through the

         16  process of the discharge of this bill from the

         17  Committee, if it's necessary, to put it in the floor

         18  for a vote on it.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         20                 I just wanted to add -- I am sorry, I

         21  didn't catch your name.

         22                 RUSTY MOORE: My name is Rusty Moore.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Oh, no, no,

         24  no. The floral tie, what was your name?

         25                 ALEXANDRA MACKENZIE: Alexandra
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          2  MacKenzie.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just

          4  wanted to thank everyone for testifying, but

          5  particularly thank you, Alexandra, for testifying,

          6  and at the end of your testimony you said that the

          7  law needed clarification, you know, for people who

          8  were something, and then you said for people who

          9  were perhaps a little odd, and I wanted to say, one,

         10  I don't think you are at all odd; and, secondly, you

         11  don't deserve -- people don't deserve protection

         12  because they are odd, people deserve protection

         13  because they are New Yorkers, and I don't think you

         14  are odd, but even if you were, that's not why you

         15  should be protected, you should be protected because

         16  you are a person. So, I want to thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Excuse me.

         18  Before you leave the table, in about 15 minutes or

         19  so I have to depart because we have an ecumenical

         20  service on what is happening in Vieques, in the

         21  Lower East Side, and I am working with Margarita

         22  Lopez on that, and I may not be able to stay for the

         23  entire hearing.

         24                 But I do want to hear that when I was

         25  a candidate for this office, as a member of the City
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          2  Council, trying to be the first Dominican American

          3  elected to government in the country, it was very

          4  clear back then that there were issues pertaining to

          5  gay and lesbians, the rights that they had as part

          6  of the human race, that I clearly identify myself

          7  with then, and in the ten years that I have been in

          8  this Council, this being my last year, I tried to

          9  live up to what I believe is the right thing, and

         10  that is as a practicing Catholic, race as a

         11  Catholic, I think I have reached a point where I

         12  have put myself as a member of the human race over

         13  anything else, any other categories that they have.

         14                 And having said that, you know, I sat

         15  here and have listened to what I believe is very

         16  compelling and powerful testimony, and in the many

         17  hundreds, hundreds of hearings that I have

         18  participated in, there have been few hearings which

         19  I believe have been as powerful as this one, in

         20  terms of human rights and the rights of people, and

         21  in that respect I am hopeful that I can sit in this

         22  room when we meet as a body, and I hope before I

         23  leave this Council, since I am term limited, I will

         24  have the opportunity with many of my colleagues to

         25  be able to vote this legislation into law, because I
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          2  think we will be sending a message to all of the

          3  human race and I believe that the courage that you

          4  have demonstrated by coming and testifying, and I am

          5  also speaking, aware that there are many other

          6  people that will be listening and will be seeing

          7  this hearing, this message that you have given is

          8  not just to this Committee, but this message you are

          9  giving is to people out there that need to

         10  understand what the real essence of this hearing is

         11  in terms of how it fits into the rest of the human

         12  race, and I will conclude by saying that I believe

         13  that a status quo and the leadership of this City

         14  represented today by the Commissioner that came is

         15  more concerned with how bad we will all look when we

         16  really recognize how bad we look in how we treat the

         17  group of people that are here testifying whose

         18  rights are being violated by the people that we pay

         19  for, their salaries to serve us, and I think that is

         20  really what is behind -- we need to do training and

         21  retraining. We need to really sensitize all of the

         22  people who work and are supposed to serve New

         23  Yorkers in an equal basis. You are the example of

         24  how far we need to go. We need to recognize that as

         25  a City, and I just wanted to share that before I
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          2  leave and say that I am proud to have been part of

          3  this process in helping this law become a reality

          4  for all New Yorkers.

          5                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you.

          6                 The next panelists will be Rash

          7  Na'Shante.  Glorya Galicki. Lyn Josslyn Rawles.

          8  Julia Porfido.

          9                 Please raise your right hands.

         10                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

         11  the testimony you are about to give is the truth,

         12  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         13                 GLORYA GALICKI: Yes.

         14                 LYN JOSSLYN RAWLES: Yes.

         15                 JULIA PORFIDO: Yes.

         16                 MR. NEWMAN: Will the first witness

         17  begin.

         18                 GLORYA GALICKI: Hi. My name is Glorya

         19  Galicki. I am also known in town as Glorya Holtz,

         20  and I promote parties with my husband for the

         21  transgender community.

         22                 And the interesting thing about

         23  parties and about entertainment, I'm a recording

         24  artist, everybody wants to come and see the show.

         25  Everybody loves seeing the performers, et cetera.
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          2                 Occasionally people come in from all

          3  walks of life to see our shows, and the interesting

          4  thing is a lot of people do not connect to the human

          5  being on the other side of the performance, meaning

          6  that it's great, oh, isn't this fun, it's a drag

          7  show, they don't even know whether they are looking

          8  at, you know, a transexual, whatever, a pre-op,

          9  post-op, whatever, drag queen, gender-variant

         10  person, they don't know, okay, but the thing is, is

         11  that we all have real lives, and I am here actually

         12  to talk about being a woman of transexual

         13  experience, I am very, very lucky to have a husband,

         14  I have step children, I have a charmed life in some

         15  ways, but, yet, I still had to go through the same

         16  crap everybody else had to go through.

         17                 There have been moments where I have

         18  had to fear for my life and my safety, and the

         19  biggest bone that I have right now to -- of

         20  contention, has to do with, the state acknowledges

         21  me legally as a woman, my internist, I was born

         22  intra-sexed, I found out prior to my surgery,

         23  meaning that I was born sexually ambiguous and I was

         24  surgically corrected at birth, and then had to go

         25  recorrect what was supposedly corrected,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            187

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  quote/unquote, and now the story is that all of my

          3  documentation is legally female, everything,

          4  however, in my housing, the building that I have

          5  lived in for nine years, will not change my legal

          6  name on my lease, and they said if you want to

          7  change the legal name, and I had had Jillian Weiss

          8  help me, she is an attorney, she testified before,

          9  they said you will have to get another benefactor,

         10  and another additional downpayment, and all of this

         11  other stuff, and they won't change that, and that is

         12  an injustice because no matter what I have to look

         13  at my old name that I was given, but that is not who

         14  I am anymore.

         15                 MR. NEWMAN: Can you sum up?

         16                 GLORYA GALICKI: So, yes. Thanks.

         17                 MR. NEWMAN: Next witness. Thank you.

         18                 RAAS NA'SHANTEE: Good evening,

         19  Councilman. My name is Raas Na'Shantee. I am a poet,

         20  writer, entertainer, an artist. I am also an

         21  activist and an advocate for the trans community,

         22  amongst other things. I wanted to speak today

         23  because I know things are kind of hectic and dealing

         24  with the fight between should it be gender

         25  dysphoria, should they take it off the records,
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          2  there are many cases. And I just wanted today to

          3  break down the terminology with transgender.

          4  Transgender was a terminology that was used to -- it

          5  was an umbrella terminology to cover all

          6  gender-variant people from transexual to

          7  cross-dresser. Be that there are many variations

          8  with the gender, under the term transgender, it

          9  makes it -- it might make it a little complex to

         10  educate others and I'm pro-education, and I know

         11  that there are human rights that cover all races,

         12  cultures, creed, religion, sex. But when it came

         13  down to sex, I thought that it covered the whole

         14  spectrum, but evidently it didn't. That's why I feel

         15  that this bill needs to be passed so we can be able

         16  to make a broader cover for all gender people.

         17                 So, when you look on a job

         18  application this time, and when it says equal

         19  opportunity employment, that they actually mean it

         20  for everyone, that when you look on an application,

         21  when you see under race, you will see

         22  African-American, Asian, Caucasian, Pacific

         23  Islander, et cetera, and other, and even other, they

         24  have other underneath race, so they have this whole

         25  variety under race because they acknowledge the fact
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          2  that there is diversity and race and culture. So,

          3  today what we need to do is to enforce that there is

          4  diversity within gender and sex, okay?

          5                 Am I over three minutes?

          6                 MR. NEWMAN: Yes.

          7                 RAAS NA'SHANTEE: I'm sorry.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: It's 5:00 in

          9  the afternoon, we have been here since 1:00 and we

         10  still have some more people, so we are asking people

         11  to do it. If you have something else to say and you

         12  can say it very quickly, say it.

         13                 RAAS NA'SHANTEE: Okay.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But

         15  understand we want to hear everybody, and everybody

         16  is getting pushed in their schedules.

         17                 RAAS NA'SHANTEE: Yes, there is also a

         18  thing with dress code, dealing with presenting one's

         19  self as business, but I'm pretty sure whether you

         20  call it dysphoric or not, anyone in their right mind

         21  would not go to a job interview as if they were

         22  going to a wrap or a rock concert, that they were

         23  dressed in the right attire, and one can still be

         24  discriminated against, and if one is of trans

         25  experience, that they will present themselves in the
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          2  sex that they state that they are and should be

          3  respected as that. And I am very appalled with the

          4  medical industry that doctors, because I have had

          5  issues with doctors, that they don't understand what

          6  is going on, and if you have dysphoria, you should

          7  even understand that. I mean, why is it so hard to

          8  come across that there is a utopia in between the

          9  male and female gender that I have to explain this

         10  to a doctor, it is very sad and I am appalled.

         11                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you.

         12                 LYN JOSSLYN RAWLES: Good afternoon.

         13  My name is Lyn Josslyn Rawles, legally known as

         14  Lynette Rawles. I had a very terrible morning this

         15  morning. I was bringing on to my friends like this

         16  very negative persona of me and I would like to

         17  apologize to that. Me and my mother was fighting

         18  about what to wear, what not to wear, she didn't

         19  want me to come out like this, but I had to tell

         20  her, you know, this is the way I am, this is who I

         21  am. I can't live for your or lil sis, or anybody

         22  else, I gotta be who I am.

         23                 So, I am planning to be successful in

         24  the best way I can, take steps, trying to get an

         25  apartment of my own, not working, I am looking for a
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          2  job.

          3                 I just hope that I am able to do that

          4  as a woman.

          5                 Thank you. That's all I have to say.

          6                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you.

          7                 JULIA PORFIDO: Hello. My name is

          8  Julia Porfido. First off, I would like to thank the

          9  Committee for the opportunity to speak. Also, I

         10  would like to thank all of you for coming down to

         11  City Hall on this important day to stand up and be

         12  counted.

         13                 I hope then my thoughts, feelings and

         14  experiences regarding transgender issues will have a

         15  positive impact on asserting our place in the bell.

         16                 I am sure like some of you in here, I

         17  have endured the hardships as a result of my

         18  transexuality. With my transition from male to

         19  female, the level of respect I receive from people

         20  seem to plummet. Society can be cruel and less than

         21  accepting, and I have experienced the firsthand in

         22  the so-called professional working environment.

         23                 When I worked for the City of New

         24  York, the job I had transitioned on, I was subjected

         25  to ridicule, sexual harassment and one act of
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          2  violence.

          3                 I had been threatened by knifepoint.

          4  These acts of injustice were perpetrated by

          5  co-workers and my supervisors.

          6                 I was fired from a hair salon soon

          7  after it was discovered that I was transexual. I

          8  have been passed up for jobs where I know I was more

          9  qualified than the other applicants.

         10                 Can I prove that my transexuality is

         11  responsible for my lack of success in the job

         12  market? No, I can't. But I have a heavy suspicion

         13  that it may have had something to do with it.

         14                 Will this law put into effect protect

         15  transgendered people completely? Probably not. But

         16  it is definitely a step in the right direction.

         17                 And for anyone who contends that this

         18  is not a real issue, I invite you to experience what

         19  real discrimination is like. You can walk with me

         20  through the halls of the college that I attend,

         21  where I am bombarded with insults and laughter. Or

         22  maybe you would like to join my friend Carly, who

         23  recently lost a job because of her physical

         24  appearance.

         25                 I could go on endlessly about the
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          2  many discriminatory acts against transexuals, but

          3  the most important thing is that we are here today,

          4  let's just hope that our cause is not in vain.

          5                 We, as transexual men and women,

          6  deserve to be acknowledged. Anything less is an

          7  indignity to our humanity. Some of us have lost our

          8  jobs and been ostracized by friends and family. The

          9  last thing we need is to be swept under the

         10  bureaucratic carpet. Once again, I would like to

         11  thank all of you for being here and for listening.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         13                 Okay, thank you. We want to, on

         14  behalf of all of my colleagues and myself, we are

         15  not done yet but I want to just say this, thank

         16  everyone for participating. What will happen over

         17  the course of the hearing, there are a few more

         18  witnesses, we will adjourn the hearing, we will have

         19  copies of all of the written testimony, we will have

         20  things distributed amongst ourselves and among the

         21  staff, we will eagerly await the Human Rights

         22  Commission material and continue to work with

         23  everyone who is interested in the ultimate issue and

         24  the outcome of this intro.

         25                 Let me just set up the last set of
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          2  witnesses, again, by way of thanking everyone.

          3                 Diana Montford, if you are here.

          4  Erica Porter. Holly Daggers. Laverne Cox. Julia

          5  Murray.  Gina Villous.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Mr. Chairman, I

          7  want to excuse myself. I need to go down to my

          8  community, and I want to apologize to the entire

          9  community who is here that I cannot hear the end of

         10  the testimony. Don't you conclude by that that I do

         11  not care and that I would not continue fighting for

         12  you. Thank you for coming here today.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         14  This is the final set of witnesses, we will go from

         15  left to right, or right to left, whichever you

         16  prefer.

         17                 Counsel.

         18                 MR. NEWMAN: Please raise your right

         19  hands.

         20                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         21  testimony you are about to give is the truth, the

         22  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         23                 WITNESSES: I do.

         24                 MR. NEWMAN: The first witness can

         25  begin.
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          2                 HOLLY DAGGERS: My name is Holly

          3  Daggers. I am a gender minority because I am female,

          4  but not according to law. I do not suffer from

          5  gender dysphoria. I suffer from bureaucratic

          6  dysphoria. My ID does not match my appearance.

          7                 As you can guess, living in a society

          8  and being afraid to present your driver's license

          9  can be a pain. I worry every time I apply for a job,

         10  every time I authorize a credit card check, every

         11  time I buy a plane ticket, every time I buy a beer

         12  at the corner deli. I have legally changed my name

         13  but my gender continues to officially and

         14  bureaucratically be M (phonetic).

         15                 Others have already mentioned how

         16  difficult it is for a person like me to legally

         17  change my name to match my appearance. Suffice to

         18  say when my lawyer told me I needed a doctor's

         19  letter to prove my name change, I went to a plastic

         20  surgeon, his receptionist wrote me a letter and my

         21  name was legally changed.

         22                 Whether or not a receptionist can

         23  determine legal gender is not my opinion, not any of

         24  my business, but apparently according to New York

         25  State law and the City it is.
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          2                 There is a clear example of

          3  discrimination that I have suffered from New York's

          4  archaic and oppressive anti-gender minority laws.

          5  Because of the discrepancies on my ID, I am

          6  intimidated into not applying for jobs I am

          7  qualified for, forced to find work only through

          8  personal friends and people I can trust.

          9                 I am a computer programmer, however,

         10  because of my bureaucratic dysphoria and my

         11  disgendered ID, my employment opportunities are

         12  severely limited, and as a result I have been forced

         13  to seek the protection and legal umbrella of my

         14  boyfriend. He's a great guy, but I am older, better

         15  educated and certainly have a better business sense

         16  than he does, however, my apartment is in his name,

         17  and as I said before, I have to rely on him to rent

         18  a car, I use his bank account to write checks and

         19  pay bills.

         20                 Recently I attempted to register my

         21  computer business with the IRS, and to my

         22  humiliation I was refused because my new name did

         23  not match my bureaucratic gender designation.

         24                 MR. NEWMAN: Please sum up.

         25                 HOLLY DAGGERS: These are not
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          2  discriminations from society, I have not been raped,

          3  beaten or threatened by strangers on the street.

          4  Nonetheless, my dignity, my independence and my

          5  self-respect have been stripped from me by these

          6  laws.

          7                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you.

          8                 Next.

          9                 ERICA PORTER: Hi. My name is Erica

         10  Porter. I am a former producer and talk show host of

         11  a cable access show called Erica's Transexual Lep

         12  Talk, and I just have to say that hate is a very

         13  strong word. It doesn't matter where you are at in

         14  life, hate is a very strong and powerful word. You

         15  know, I am just tired of having to fight for my

         16  rights as a person, and I just want to be able to

         17  walk down the street without having people say

         18  things to me like, you know, are you a him or her or

         19  whatever. I shouldn't have to put up with stuff like

         20  that, because, you know, I am a person first, you

         21  know. I identify as being female. You know, I never

         22  identified with being male or what have you, and I

         23  just think that it is important that you pass this

         24  bill so that we can get rid of that word or expose

         25  that word hate, because it is just a crying shame
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          2  that we have to face all of this indignity. It is

          3  just terrible.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you.

          6                 LAVERNE COX: Hi. My name is Laverne

          7  Cox, and I have lived in New York City for about

          8  eight years.

          9                 Fear. Fear is a huge part of my life

         10  as a person of transexual experience. When someone

         11  harasses me on the street, will they attack me? Will

         12  I be beaten, raped or murdered on the street, like

         13  so many of my transgendered brothers or sisters?

         14                 When I go to apply for a job, will I

         15  be laughed at or turned away, or told we don't hire

         16  your kind, as has happened to so many of my

         17  transgendered brothers and sisters.

         18                 Will I end up destitute, jobless and

         19  homeless, even though I have a college degree and

         20  want to work and drive?

         21                 This is the reality for so many of us

         22  living in this culture which so pervasively denies

         23  us the most fundamental of rights, the lack of

         24  specificity in the law is a denial.

         25                 The passage of Intro. 754 is
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          2  certainly only a beginning. But isn't it time that

          3  the law started to fully, that is explicitly

          4  acknowledge, all of our population in its diversity

          5  so that maybe, just maybe the transgendered

          6  community here in New York City, can begin to feel a

          7  little less fear, because there is some obvious

          8  recourse under the law.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you.

         11                 DIANA MONTFORD: Hi. I am Diana

         12  Montford. I have produced and moderated a public

         13  affairs show on cable since 1990. I am a member of

         14  every trans organization in New York City, including

         15  NYAGRA, including MGN, Transgender Nation. I am a

         16  member of GLID, Stonewall Democrats, East Side

         17  Democrats. There is a reason why I am telling you

         18  this. I am a member of the Borough President's

         19  Public Policy Committee, the LGBT Committee, and I

         20  am a member of the Lesbian and Gay Center Public

         21  Policy Committee. The reason that I am telling you

         22  this is that very recently I was up for a seat on a

         23  community board, I won't tell you which one, but the

         24  Borough President wanted me, she recommended me,

         25  Eric McCall recommended me - I didn't get it. What's
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          2  wrong with this picture, you know? I mean, I suspect

          3  anti-trans prejudice, I won't tell you what for, I

          4  won't tell you the person I suspect of anti-trans

          5  prejudice, that's why I have a picture of both,

          6  okay?

          7                 In 1992, my father died of lung

          8  cancer, his girlfriend's daughter and her cop

          9  husband, her New York City Policeman husband, sued

         10  me. They wanted me to relinquish most of my rights

         11  to my father's estate. They said that they would

         12  have me arrested as a prostitute if I didn't. Fear

         13  got to me, I sculped away, you know? I mean, what

         14  could I do? This is because I am trans. These are

         15  inalieable rights for all of us, not just rich white

         16  guys like Giuliani, our favorite girl, you know?

         17  Thank you very much.

         18                 MR. NEWMAN: Thank you very much.

         19                 The meeting is adjourned. Thank you.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 5:20 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 4th day of May, 2001.
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